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During the course of the year, the following were lost  
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Our vision is to maintain Flemington  
as a world leader in thoroughbred racing, 
event management and entertainment.
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Mission
Through our people we will:
•  Continually develop Flemington  

as a world class racing and 
entertainment venue all  
year round

•  Focus on the continued growth  
and success of the Melbourne  
Cup Carnival

•  Provide the highest quality  
service, facilities and value for  
our Members, customers, partners  
and the community

•  Balance our commitment to 
environmental sustainability  
and the local community with  
our operations

•  Maximise financial returns from  
our racing and events for the benefit  
of the Club, its Members, the racing 
industry and partners.

Values
Integrity: Acting with integrity  
in all that we do

Innovation: Encouraging and 
embracing innovation to achieve 
continuous improvement

Excellence: Setting the highest 
standards in service and value  
for our Members, customers  
and business partners

Collaboration: Valuing and respecting 
the commitment and contribution  
of all of our people and expecting 
collaboration across our teams

Safety and Sustainability: Providing  
a safe and environmentally friendly 
workplace, and venue for our people, 
customers and industry participants

12-time Melbourne Cup winner, Bart Cummings



Victoria Racing Club
Annual Report 2009

1 

Bart Cummings – J.B. Cummings in the record books – stands in a league 

of his own in Australian racing history. With more than 250 Group One races 

to his credit, Bart was acknowledged in 2008 as only the second Legend in 

the Australian Racing Hall of Fame. He has nine times prepared an Australian 

Horse of the Year. Bart won his first Melbourne Cup with Light Fingers in 1965, 

his record-breaking sixth Melbourne Cup with Gold And Black in 1977 and 

his extraordinary 12th Melbourne Cup in 2008 with Viewed. 

Main image: Viewed holds out Bauer to narrowly win the 2008 Emirates 
Melbourne Cup, with C’est La Guerre (partly obscured), Master O’Reilly 
and Profound Beauty following.
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Chairman’s
Report

On behalf of the Board of the Victoria Racing Club, I am pleased
to report to Members on the operations of the Club for the 
year ended 31 July 2009.

Racing Victoria Limited is representing all stakeholders 

in these negotiations with government, and as a 

consequence is entrusted with the responsibility to hold 

the government accountable to ensure that the ‘no less 

favourable’ undertaking is met in both spirit and in the 

letter of the law. We expect not only to be no worse off 

as an industry, but to be able to continue to grow our 

share of wagering revenue.

The second issue that certainly gathered momentum 

during the course of the 2008/09 Racing Season was 

the growth in corporate bookmaking.

Corporate bookmakers are a reality and through their 

enterprise provide opportunity to grow the overall 

interest in racing – this is to be welcomed.

The primary concern in relation to corporate bookmakers 

is their capacity, through advantageous cost and taxation 

structures (including product fee arrangements), to offer 

clients ‘best tote’ or ‘tote plus’ odds that may, over time, 

see a migration of existing tote clients to the corporates. 

The consequences would be at best stagnant, or at worst 

declining revenues to the industry. 

Currently, racing in Victoria receives approximately 

6.5 cents in the dollar wagered through Tabcorp, while 

a bet with a corporate bookmaker on a best tote basis 

returns 0.5 of a cent in the dollar. 

The VRC does not propose protection of the parimutuel 

operator, but the creation of a level playing field taxation 

regime that treats the tote and corporate bookmakers 

evenly, requiring both to pay comparable fees for the 

right to utilise the industry’s racing product. 

The responsibility for resolution of this challenge, which 

ultimately requires a legislative solution at the federal 

level, rests with Racing Victoria Limited and all other 

state controlling bodies in concert with the Australian 

Racing Board.

Despite the challenging economic environment, the 

Club returned a profit on its operations of $1.98 million 

for the year. This result was made possible through 

prudent management and the continued growth of our 

non-raceday operations, which contribute substantially 

to the ongoing success of the Club.

During the course of the year, two issues, which have 

the capacity to impact on not only the future success 

of the VRC, but that of the Victorian Racing Industry, 

came into very clear focus, they being:

•  the industry’s revenue entitlements under the 

post-2012 re-licensing of the state’s parimutuel 

operator (currently Tabcorp); and 

•  the rapidly changing wagering landscape. 

Whilst the wagering licence is not due for renewal 

until the end of 2012, the VRC understands that 

the State Government is currently progressing the 

relicensing process with the possibility that the new 

licensee will be announced during the 2009/10 Racing 

Season. The industry has, since the privatisation of 

the TAB in 1994, taken comfort that there is a legislative 

provision that any renewal of the licence will require 

that the licensee’s arrangements with the industry 

be ‘no less favourable’ than those currently in place.

There has, and continues to be, grave concern as to 

the government’s commitment to see that the industry 

continues to receive funding at a level that meets the 

undertaking of ‘no less favourable’ not just in the first 

year of any renewed term, but for the duration of the 

new wagering licence.

Under current arrangements, the industry receives 

a portion of its revenue through a profit sharing 

arrangement with Tabcorp that recognises the industry’s 

original investment in the gaming industry through 

the TAB prior to privatisation.

There will be no gaming profit share entitlement 

under the new licensing arrangements and, as a 

consequence, the ‘no less favourable’ provision will 

mean that the industry will be totally reliant upon 

wagering revenues generated by the new licensee to 

underpin its future success. The capacity of Victorian 

racing to offer prizemoney that is both nationally and 

internationally competitive will be dependent upon 

funding arrangements put in place for the duration 

of the new licence (12 years).
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The current state of prizemoney and capital investment 
in other racing jurisdictions around the world provides 
some instructive evidence and illustrates the contrast 
between those that have a strong (and in some cases 
exclusive) parimutuel and those that have a dominant 
corporate bookmaker funding model. We need to be 
vigilant that we do not embark on a path that has seen 
UK and Irish racing constrained in their capacity to both 
invest in essential on course infrastructure and to offer 
internationally competitive prizemoney.

Early in the year, the three metropolitan clubs 
commissioned a report from former RVL Director 
and leading corporate adviser, Mr Lindsay Maxsted, 
in relation to the optimum metropolitan club structure 
to support a growing and sustainable racing industry.
The report was received in August, and the metropolitan 
clubs have provided an initial response and set in 
train processes by which key recommendations can 
be further advanced.
Members will be fully advised of progress in this regard 
through the Club’s website and, if applicable, through 
direct communication. 

For the 2007 and 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnivals, 
the VRC fully supported the decision by the Federal 
Government, through the Australian Quarantine 
and Inspection Service, to suspend the temporary 
importation of horses from Japan following the 
outbreak of Equine Influenza (EI) in August 2007. It was, 
however, disappointing for the VRC to learn that, despite 
Japan declaring itself free of EI in July of this year, the 
direct importation of horses from Japan for the 2009 
Melbourne Cup Carnival was not going to be possible.
The VRC has written to the Minister for Agriculture 
concerning the importance to the Spring Carnival 
of the future participation of horses from Japan and 
requested that new protocols be agreed as a matter
of urgency to ensure that we can once again welcome 
Japanese competitors of the calibre of Delta Blues 
and Pop Rock to our Spring Carnival in 2010.

On 15 February 2009, our esteemed Board colleague, 
Mr Bill Mackinnon, passed away suddenly whilst 
preparing for a round of golf on his beloved Moonah 
Links Golf Course on the Mornington Peninsula.

Bill possessed personal qualities that throughout his
life endeared him to so many. To the VRC, he brought 
a passion for racing, a love of Flemington and its great 
traditions, an openness of mind to embrace change, 
a resolve to see that the Club operated under the highest 
principles of good governance and that at all times 
it dealt fairly with all stakeholders.

His company is sadly missed by members of the Board 
and staff at the VRC.

Following receipt of the Maxsted Report and its 
reference to a possible merger between the VRC and 
Moonee Valley Racing Club, the Board has determined, 
at this time, not to fill the vacancy caused by the 
passing of Mr Bill Mackinnon.

A decade of major capital infrastructure investment, 
which commenced with the construction of the new 
Members’ Grandstand in 1999, was completed this year 
with the building of the new Flemington Racecourse 
Operations office and the greening of the Flemington 
car parks.

It is now time for the VRC to consider the next major 
phase of its evolution, and to that end the Club 
has established a new sub-committee under the 
chairmanship of Director, Mr Tim Poole. Whilst in 
an embryonic stage at present, the new Masterplan 
will be by far the most ambitious suite of projects 
ever considered by the VRC. There are some seven 
major components, including, but not limited to, 
the Members’ Old Grandstand, the railway station, 
the car parks on Leonard Crescent, the public Hill 
Stand and the Ascot Enclosure.

Preliminary discussions have commenced with key 
government agencies, and Members will be advised
of progress once the key components have been 
fully evaluated by way of a cost-benefit analysis.

Chairman, Rodney M Fitzroy
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Chairman’s Report
continued

Next year will be a very significant time for the Victoria Racing 
Club as we will be hosting the 150th running of the nation’s 
great race – the Emirates Melbourne Cup. To ensure that the 
importance of this occasion is appropriately recognised, the Club 
is planning a series of initiatives which will highlight the rich 
heritage of the race and the role it has played in the lives of 
successive generations of Australians.

We value highly our staff who, without exception, 

stand ready to meet any challenge, particularly those 

associated with conducting the biggest annual sporting 

event in Australia – the Melbourne Cup Carnival.

Our Chief Executive, Dale Monteith, and his Senior 

Management team can take great credit for the 

meticulous planning and execution that has once 

again been the hallmark of operations at Flemington, 

especially during Cup week.

It would not be possible for the Club to operate to 

the standard that it does without the assistance of many 

individuals and organisations, and I would like to take this 

opportunity to formally put on record my appreciation 

and thanks to:

•  The State Government and the Office of the Premier, 

the Hon John Brumby MP

• The Minister for Racing, the Hon Rob Hulls MP

• Racing Victoria Limited

•  Sister metropolitan clubs, the Melbourne Racing Club 

and Moonee Valley Racing Club Inc

•  Country Racing Victoria Ltd – and all country 

racing clubs

•  Our joint proprietor of the Australian Stud Book, 

the Australian Jockey Club

• Joint Venture partner, Tabcorp Holdings Limited

• ThoroughVisioN (TVN) 

• Australian Racing Board

• City of Melbourne.

Finally, to each and every Member of the Victoria Racing 

Club – thank you for your continued loyalty and support. 

Rodney M Fitzroy 

Chairman

This past year has been a challenging one for the 

Australian Jumping Racing Association. The loss of any 

horse is a tragedy, be it on the flat or over the jumps, 

and the industry continues to do all it can to ensure 

that horses and jockeys are provided the safest 

possible conditions.

The future of jumps racing is ultimately a matter 

for Racing Victoria Limited, but the VRC’s capacity to 

continue to host two days of feature jumps racing away 

from Flemington will be dependent upon the extent of 

funding provided by RVL to support the race program 

under the VRC banner.

Next year will be a very significant time for the Victoria 

Racing Club as we will be hosting the 150th running of 

the nation’s great race – the Emirates Melbourne Cup.

To ensure that the importance of this occasion is 

appropriately recognised, the Club is planning a series 

of initiatives which will highlight the rich heritage of the 

race and the role it has played in the lives of successive 

generations of Australians.

At last year’s Annual General Meeting, Mr Peter Barnett, 

in accordance with the Club’s constitution, retired as 

Vice Chairman, but continues as a member of the Board. 

I wish to thank Peter for his wise counsel and unswerving 

support for me in my capacity as Chairman. At that same 

meeting, Mr Michael Burn was unanimously elected 

Vice Chairman.

The Club’s Vice Chairman, Michael Burn, and Treasurer, 

Peter Fekete, have both committed themselves to the 

responsibilities that attach to their positions. The Club 

is most fortunate to have people of their calibre in key 

Board executive roles.

To all other members of the Board, I extend my 

appreciation and admiration for their total commitment 

to the Club.
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The Flemington straight, past the Grandstand to the river turn, was originally 

lengthened as a result of an accident in the first Melbourne Cup. It was further 

lengthened to become the world-famous Straight Six, the six furlong (1,200 metre) 

length of straight track that makes Flemington ideal for sprint races.

Main image: Arinos draws away from Hoystar to win the 2008 Service Stream Sprint 
on Crown Oaks Day.
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Board 
of Directors

Rod Fitzroy
Fellow Real Estate 

Institute (FREI) 

Associate Australian 

Property Institute (AAPI) 

Date joined 
Committee/Board
November 1993

Business interests
Deputy Chairman Epworth 

Medical Foundation Board 

of Trustees

Director Epworth 

Medical Foundation 

Board of Management

Director, 

Capital Star Motors

Consultant, Fitzroys

Current racing interests
Currently an interest 

in five horses

Interests outside of racing
Family

Golf

Travel

Sydney Swans

Michael Burn
Bachelor of Commerce

Melbourne University

Date joined 
Committee/Board
November 2003

Business interests
Executive Director – 

Macquarie Capital Advisers 

– Macquarie Group Limited

Loreto Mandeville Hall 

Finance Committee Member

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and hobby breeder

Interests outside of racing
Spending time with family

Golf

Snow skiing

Peter Barnett
Fellow Certified Practising 

Accountant (FCPA) 

Date joined 
Committee/Board
June 1999

Business interests
Director of AMCIL Ltd 

and Djerriwarrh 

Investments Limited 

Former Chief Executive 

Officer of EZ Industries Ltd

Managing Director of 

Pasminco Ltd (1988 – 1995)

Former President, Minerals 

Council of Australia 

Current racing interests
Raced a number of horses, 

including Paris Lane, 

Mr Baritone and 

Eskimo Queen

Interests outside of racing
Golf

Food and wine

Peter Fekete
Fellow of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants 

Australia (ICA)

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2000

Business interests
Company Director 

Former partner of 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Chartered Accountants 

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner and

hobby breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Skiing

Football

Paul Leeds
Associate Fellow of 

Australian Institute 

of Management

Date joined 
Committee/Board
April 2002

Business interests
Board Director of National 

Stroke Foundation 

Board Director of 

Collingwood Football Club

Board Director of Radio 3UZ 

Pty Limited

Chairman Interpartners 

Australasian Advertising 

Network

Chairman Twenty3 

Sport+Entertainment

Chairman Australian 

Made Media

Advisory Board Menzies 

Art Brands

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Art

Food, wine and travel

Collectables

Football
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Amanda Elliott
BA (Hons) 

Melbourne University

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2002

Business interests
Director of Pastoral and 

Investment Companies

Melbourne City Council 

Advisory Board for 

Melbourne Spring 

Fashion Week

Current racing interests
Breeder

Interests outside of racing
Family

Tennis

Travel

Music

Theatre and film

Agriculture

Katherine Bourke
BA, LLB, LLM

Member of the Victorian 

Bar 1989 – 2007

Chairman of the 

Bookmakers and 

Bookmakers’ Clerks 

Registration Committee 

2000 – 2007

Judge of County Court 

of Victoria 2007

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2004

Current racing interests
Racehorse owner 

and breeder

Interests outside of racing
Hawthorn Football Club

Food, wine and travel

Tim Poole
Bachelor of Commerce 

Melbourne University 

Associate Institute of 

Chartered Accountants

Date joined 
Committee/Board
July 2006

Business interests
Director of Newcrest 

Mining Limited

Director of Lifestyle 

Communities Limited

Member of Investment 

Committee of 

AustralianSuper

Member of Advisory Board 

of LEK Consulting

Current racing interests
One mare, one foal, 

one weanling and 

four racehorses

Interests outside of racing
Family

Golf

Running

Dale Monteith 
Bachelor of Commerce 

Melbourne University

Australian Sports 

Medal 2000

Date joined 
Committee/Board
June 2000

Business interests
Chief Executive of 

Victoria Racing Club 

(2000 – present)

Tabcorp Joint Venture 

Management Committee 

(1994 – present)

Previously Chief Executive 

of MRC (1991 – 2000)

Current racing interests
Thoroughbred breeding

Interests outside of racing
Family 

Geelong Football Club

Cycling

Golf
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Chief Executive’s 
Report

The year saw a most pleasing turnaround in the 
financial result achieved with a healthy net profit 
of $1.98 million compared with the 2007/08 year 
net loss of $2.2 million, which was impacted by 
Equine Influenza (EI).

A number of challenges confronted the Club during 
the year under review, with particular focus on 
matters affecting the industry at large, which also 
had the potential to impact upon the VRC’s operations 
in 2008/09 and beyond. A number of Club related 
issues were also successfully dealt with.

2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival
The four day attendance of 396,046 was the third 
most successful on record and reinforced the strength 
of our wonderful event.

International participation in the 2008 Emirates 
Melbourne Cup was very strong, notwithstanding 
that Japanese horses were unfortunately prevented 
from competing due to the continuing impact of 
the 2007 outbreak of EI on quarantine arrangements.

At the time of writing, these arrangements, which are 
less than satisfactory, will not have improved for the 
2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival. We will continue to 
pressure the Federal Government to acknowledge that 
horses in competition must be treated separately from 
breeding stock imported to Australia, and that uniform 
quarantine protocols in force around the world are 
entirely appropriate for horses travelling to compete 
in our Carnival.

Corporate hospitality involvement in the 2008 
Melbourne Cup Carnival plateaued at 2007 levels, largely 
due to the early impact of the global financial crisis. 
However, this result was satisfactory considering other 
major events in Melbourne were significantly impacted.

It was most disappointing that the train system 
failed the Club and patrons on Crown Oaks Day 
forcing the implementation of emergency evacuation 
procedures. Since then, the Club and Connex, with 
government assistance, have worked closely to improve 
communications so that in the event of a rail systems 
failure action is taken much quicker than occurred 
on Crown Oaks Day last year.

The unrivalled economic impact of the Melbourne Cup 
Carnival upon the Victorian state economy continued 
in 2008, with our event contributing $366.1 million 
to the state’s economy. For the first time the Club 

undertook research to determine the impact of the 
Carnival on the Australian economy. Not surprisingly 
the 2008 Carnival delivered an economic benefit 
of nearly $700 million to the nation.

Since research was first conducted in 1993, the 
Melbourne Cup Carnival has delivered a staggering 
$5.5 billion economic impact to the Victorian economy.

Vision and mission statements
During the year, the Board determined that it was 
appropriate to revisit the Club’s vision and mission 
statements to appropriately align these statements 
with our current operations and in particular 
the views of our people.

One of the key findings from the review was the need to 
accord appropriate regard to the fact that Flemington 
Racecourse is central to the Club’s success.

Our previous vision statement, which had been largely 
unchanged for 15 years, was limited to our racing 
activities, whereas now, at Flemington, the Club 
is also a world leader in event management and 
entertainment year round.

The new statements are detailed at the front of this 
report and I encourage Members to embrace them.

Totalisator wagering
The strength of the Australian Racing Industry and the 
livelihood of industry participants is dependent upon 
a viable and competitive totalisator system. The most 
successful racing industries in the world are based 
upon returns from totalisator wagering, not fixed 
odds wagering.

It is not widely understood that the Australian Racing 
Industry is the third most successful racing industry in 
the world. This is primarily due to the funding derived 
by racing from the off course state-based TAB systems 
introduced in the early 1960s.

Regretfully, this funding model is under serious threat, as 
in turn is the livelihood of racing’s participants. Revenue 
from totalisator wagering in Victoria must grow by 
at least CPI in the future to ensure racing’s viability.

Racefields Legislation
During the year, there was considerable publicity 
surrounding the issue of the charging of product fees, 
via Racefields Legislation, for wagering by all operators, 
both nationally and internationally, for betting on 
Victorian racing.

Chief Executive, Dale G Monteith
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The 2008/09 Racing Season in many ways was one of consolidation for the Club 
tempered by the impact of the global financial crisis. Many of the strategies implemented 
during the previous five years enabled the Club to deliver, without doubt, one of the 
most acknowledged Melbourne Cup Carnivals in recent history. The Flemington track 
reconstruction, birdcage horse stalls and tunnel, together with the capping of crowd 
numbers and the pre-sold ticketing strategy, all contributed to the success in 2008 
and they will do so for many years to come.

Training at Flemington
Training at Flemington has always been conducted 

at a net cost to the Club and this has largely gone 

unrecognised by the industry. In 2008/09 this net 

cost was of the order of $1.6 million.

In essence, the Club is providing a subsidy to Flemington-

based trainers and owners at the expense of prizemoney 

the VRC would otherwise be able to provide to all Victorian 

Racing Industry participants who race at Flemington.

In considering the Club’s commitment to the future 

of training at Flemington, the Board has taken the 

decision that by 2012 training must be cost neutral. 

In this regard, discussions have taken place with RVL for 

it to acknowledge that training should be an industry 

rather than Club cost, particularly as not all Clubs 

provide on course training. Interestingly, the Maxsted 

Report on metropolitan racing, released prior to this 

report going to print, came to the same conclusion.

I am pleased to report that RVL has agreed to meet more 

of the costs associated with training at Flemington with 

a schedule of staggered funding increases over the next 

three years.

This, however, will still mean that a ‘user pays’ system 

will need to be implemented for horses trained at 

Flemington to bridge the gap so that training by 2012 

is cost neutral to the Club. At present, the cost per horse 

to train at Flemington is less than $1 per day and this 

will need to increase to at least $4 per horse, per day, 

by 2012 to achieve a cost neutral position for the Club.

Radio Sport 927
In December 2008, Tabcorp in its wisdom decided to 

withdraw significant funding of radio station Radio 

Sport 927, the primary function of which is to promote 

wagering. This meant that the shareholders of Radio 

Sport 927, of which VRC is one, had to effectively meet 

the funding shortfall of $3 million per annum, to enable 

the station to continue to operate.

This decision by Tabcorp was most disappointing and, 

I believe, short-sighted. When Tabcorp was created 

in 1994 the cost of radio coverage was agreed to be 

a legitimate cost of wagering. Since that time, with the 

support of Tabcorp funding, the number of racemeetings 

covered by Radio Sport 927 has increased from 2,500 

to more than 6,000 per year and this coverage, which 

coming at a considerable cost, has played a key role 

in driving wagering revenue, not only for Tabcorp, 

but racing.

Since the withdrawal of Tabcorp funding, Radio Sport 927 

has been forced to seek advertising from competing 

wagering providers based outside of Victoria. Previously, 

legislation prevented wagering operators based outside 

of Victoria from advertising in this state, but this changed 

following legal challenges in the High Court in 2008.

Each of the states, and indeed the three racing 

codes, have taken different positions on the matter. 

In addition, NSW Racing took the decision to repudiate 

the ‘Gentlemen’s Agreement’ between the states, which 

had existed since the creation of TABs, to not charge 

product fees for wagering on each other’s product.

RVL decided, on a one year trial basis, to move from 

charging a percentage of turnover to a percentage of 

gross revenue model. At the same time, a number of legal 

challenges were made against the charging of racefields 

product fees in both NSW and Victoria. These cases are 

still ongoing and certainly cloud the entitlement of racing 

to receive fair fees from all those who seek to profit from 

wagering on racing.

It is abundantly clear that these fees, if they can be 

sustained, will bring new and justifiable income 

streams for racing. However, there are also no guarantees 

that these new revenues will not cannibalise existing 

totalisator revenue streams, which are the lifeblood 

of the industry.

Prizemoney
While the Club was pleased to be able to distribute 

a record $35.8 million in prizemoney during 2008/09, 

it was most disappointing that RVL chose to effectively 

discriminate against the VRC with respect to the 

provision of funding for minimum prizemoney levels.

Effective from 1 February 2009, both Melbourne Racing 

Club (MRC) and Moonee Valley Racing Club (MVRC) were 

provided with additional funding when RVL decided to 

increase minimum Saturday and feature night meeting 

prizemoney levels from $60,000 to $70,000 per race. 

VRC was excluded from such additional funding.

RVL chose not to make the same grants to VRC as 

minimum prizemoney for such races at Flemington 

had previously been set by the Club at $75,000 per race. 

Regretfully, this commitment by the Club to the industry 

was used by RVL to subsidise prizemoney increases 

at the other metropolitan racecourses.

Disappointingly, based upon RVL’s policy towards VRC, 

there is now absolutely no incentive for the Club to pay 

prizemoney above minimum levels determined by RVL. 

This is totally at odds with previous RVL policies which 

encouraged Clubs to focus on maximising prizemoney 

levels for the overall good of industry participants.

It is also most disappointing that RVL has chosen 

to replicate this position in 2009/10 at a cost to the 

VRC in excess of $1 million. As a consequence, the VRC 

is reviewing its position on what has been a prime 

directive since the mid 1990s, of maximising 

prizemoney levels at Flemington.
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will save a total of 160 megalitres of water per annum. 

This ‘offset’ agreement was the first of its kind in Victoria 

and was supported by the State Government.

In addition, at the suggestion of City West Water, 

the Club investigated new technology pioneered by 

Australian company Desalin8 which will enable saline 

water in the aquifers underneath Flemington to be 

converted to fresh water for use on the grounds, gardens 

and artificial training tracks.

I am pleased to report that two desalination bores were 

commissioned in September 2009 and they will produce 

up to 49 megalitres of much needed fresh water per annum.

Flemington Green Fields
Prior to the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival, the 

Flemington Green Fields strategy was launched as an 

extension of the Club’s Sustainability Charter, adopted 

in 2007/08.

The strategy will specifically target initiatives which 

are environmentally responsible in all areas of the 

Club’s operations.

Examples of results achieved during the 2008 

Melbourne Cup Carnival include:

• The recycling of 110 tonnes of rubbish

•  The Carnival was powered by ‘green energy’ provided 

by the Club’s energy partner AGL

•  2.7 tonnes of food was saved to be used for charitable 

purposes rather than being sent for landfill.

Flemington Green Fields has created significant 

opportunities to develop relationships with like-minded 

corporate entities, including sponsorship, to assist the 

Club in its strategy. In this regard, we already have the 

support of AGL, Cleanevent, Peter Rowland Catering 

and SecondBite.

International strategy
During the past four years, the VRC has worked 

to strengthen ties with international racing clubs 

and to increase business and leisure tourism visitation 

to Victoria for the Melbourne Cup Carnival.

The 2008/09 program focused on reinforcing existing 

relationships built over previous years with return visits 

to Hong Kong, Singapore, Dublin, London, Dubai, Tokyo 

and Auckland. The VRC also included Shanghai as a key 

destination on the itinerary, in a strategic move, which 

identified the Victorian State Government’s agenda to 

build closer links with China. This program continues 

to reinforce prospects for bilateral trade, investment 

and tourism and the valuable networking opportunities 

that exist for businesses during Cup week.

Unless Radio Sport 927 can find alternative funding 

sources, its shareholders, including VRC, will need to 

commit to fund the station’s operations on an ongoing 

basis. This new cost to the VRC will be in the order of 

$500,000 per annum and will be at the expense of 

prizemoney levels at Flemington. In a review of Radio 

Sport 927’s operations by Mr Lindsay Maxsted, it was 

recommended that RVL should meet the station’s 

costs as occurs with Harness Racing Victoria (HRV) 

and Greyhound Racing Victoria (GRV), on behalf 

of their racing codes.

Music festivals
In the period January to March 2009, Flemington 

Racecourse hosted three very successful music 

festivals, Big Day Out, Future Music Festival and 

Good Vibrations Festival.

The festivals returned the Club net income of close to 

$1.2 million in 2008/09. Importantly, this new revenue 

stream allowed the Club to bring forward by one year 

the completion of the greening of the main car park. 

This work will have been completed prior to the 

2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival.

It is important to understand that in agreeing to host the 

three music festivals, the Club was determined to ensure 

that all of the standards which apply to the conduct of 

the Melbourne Cup Carnival, as an event, were replicated 

for the festivals, to protect not only the image and brand 

of Flemington and the VRC, but also our physical assets. 

The festival organisers share the same vision for the 

conduct of their events at Flemington.

Water strategy
During the year, the Club received strong support from 

City West Water together with Melbourne Water, the 

Environment Protection Authority and Southern Rural 

Water to test the viability of sewer mining at Flemington 

to dramatically reduce the Club’s reliance upon 

Melbourne’s drinking water supplies.

It is clear from this investigation that unless State and/or 

Federal Government funding support can be obtained, 

this project must be held in abeyance. The costs involved 

with sewer mining at present mean that it is not 

economically viable. This position may well change with 

foreshadowed increases to the cost of water in Victoria 

over the next five years.

In the interim, City West Water agreed late last year for 

an additional 23 megalitres of water to be made available 

each year, for five years, at Flemington. This required 

the Club to invest in water saving measures at a major 

manufacturing plant, away from Flemington, which 

Chief Executive’s 
Report continued

The VRC prides itself on delivering on Members’ expectations. 
Its success in this area can best be measured by the 96% retention 
rate achieved during 2008/09. The Board is acutely aware that 
the VRC’s success is very much predicated upon the support of 
Members, not only in renewing their Membership, but also the 
regularity with which they attend Flemington racemeetings and 
non-raceday events. The Board will continue to develop strategies 
to ensure this strong support continues.
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Australian Genetic Testing (AGT)
For one hundred years, the VRC and Australian Jockey 

Club (AJC), as joint proprietors, have owned and operated 

the Australian Stud Book (ASB), which is responsible 

for the integrity of the thoroughbred horse population 

in Australia and internationally.

The ASB has for thirty years partnered with Queensland 

University and its Australian Equine Genetic Research 

Centre (AEGRC) for the verification of the parentage 

of all horses eligible to be accepted into the ASB.

More recently, AEGRC has pioneered DNA profile testing 

for the ASB as well as for other horse breeds, which has 

enabled both entities to share additional revenues 

generated from the laboratory.

Early this year, the joint proprietors of the ASB decided 

to create a new business entity, Australian Genetic 

Testing (AGT), to exploit the opportunities available 

from the Club’s significant investment in AEGRC’s 

laboratories. AEGRC is already considered a world leader 

in DNA profiling and this will assist AGT in generating 

new business opportunities from the DNA testing of 

laboratory animals for research into human diseases 

and also other research that requires DNA profiling.

AGT will provide VRC with an exciting new, non-racing, 

revenue generating opportunity.

Membership
The Club was delighted with the support it received 

from Members during 2008/09, with more than 

29,000 Members in all categories.

During the year, 2,367 new Restricted Members 

were admitted and 687 existing Restricted Members 

were elevated to Full Membership status.

The VRC prides itself on delivering on Members’ 

expectations. Its success in this area can best be 

measured by the 96% retention rate achieved during 

2008/09. There are very few Member-based sporting 

bodies in the world that can rival this retention rate, 

from year to year.

The Board is acutely aware that the VRC’s success is 

very much predicated upon the support of Members, 

not only in renewing their Membership, but also 

the regularity with which they attend Flemington 

racemeetings and non-raceday events. The Board will 

continue to develop strategies to ensure this strong 

support continues.

Super Saturday – The volunteers
Super Saturday in 2009 again hosted one of Australia’s 

premier racemeetings. This year, however, Super Saturday 

was conducted one month to the day after the tragic 

Black Saturday bushfires – the worst in Victoria’s history.

The Club was delighted to be able to recognise and 

host the heroes, the volunteers, on the day and to raise 

$1.3 million for the Country Fire Authority Public Fund, 

to be used to encourage volunteerism in Victoria and to 

assist in caring for needy volunteers and their families.

The generous support of Sheikh Mohammed, the ruler of 

Dubai, and his Darley racing stables in donating $1 million 

to the fund was most welcome, as was the support 

of the many industry participants and VRC partners, 

too numerous to name, who donated to this most 

worthy cause.

The Club plans to annually acknowledge the bravery 

and selfless work of Victorian volunteers on Family Day, 

featuring the Blamey Stakes, in March each year.

Racecourse and Operations office
Subsequent to the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival, 

works commenced on the construction of new 

offices for Racecourse and Event Operations 

administration staff.

Previously, these staff were accommodated in 

sub-optimal facilities at two separate locations at 

Flemington. The move into the new offices in July 2009 

enabled the management of the total Flemington 

footprint to be housed under one roof, under the 

control of the General Manager Flemington, which 

will ensure the achievement of operational efficiencies 

at Flemington.

Members’ Disciplinary Committee
A number of Members had their Membership 

privileges suspended arising from proven instances 

of inappropriate behaviour during the 2008 Melbourne 

Cup Carnival.

The successful management of the Carnival requires 

the support of Members as the Club’s ongoing ability 

to maintain behavioural standards, particularly in the 

Members’ Reserved Car Parks, will determine whether 

it continues to receive the support of Victoria Police 

and the Liquor Licensing Commissioner in continuing 

the BYO policy in the Car Parks.
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When races were first conducted at Flemington more than 165 years ago, the pre-race stabling area 

was on the river side of the course in an area we now call the Elms. This became a special enclosure – 

The Birdcage – in the prosperous 1880s. Redevelopment of the course in 1924 to accommodate growing 

raceday crowds saw The Birdcage stabling and exercise yards shifted to their current location. In 2007, 

the original 1924 raceday stabling area was removed and replaced with a modern 125-box complex. 

The new horse tunnel, linking the stables to the Mounting Yard, ensures the safety of both horses and 

the crowds at Flemington.

Inset right: The appearance of retired Melbourne Cup winners, such as Doriemus and Rogan Josh, was one 
of the many attractions for children on Emirates Stakes Day 2008.
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The Melbourne Cup Carnival has a long history of exceptional racing, glamour 

and excitement unsurpassed by any other cultural or sporting event in Australia. 

The Carnival attracts spectators, competitors and guests from around the world 

and the 2008 Carnival was no exception, boasting a four-day aggregate attendance 

of 396,046 patrons.

Main image: All Silent is victorious in the 2008 AAMI International Travel Stakes on 
AAMI Victoria Derby Day. Inset left: Theseo, winner of the 2008 Crown Mackinnon Stakes 
on AAMI Victoria Derby Day.
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In front of 117,776 patrons at Flemington, Clare Lindop became the first female 

jockey to win the AAMI Victoria Derby, on long-shot Rebel Raider. Clare added this 

major feat to her long list of achievements, which include being the first Australian 

woman to ride in a Melbourne Cup (on Debben in 2003) and the first to win 

a metropolitan jockeys’ premiership on mainland Australia.

Main image: Rebel Raider, winner of the 2008 AAMI Victoria Derby. Inset left: All Silent, 
winner of the 2008 Emirates Stakes.
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Membership

Racing Rewards
The popularity of the Racing Rewards program was 

evident during 2008/09 as the number of Members 

attaining Group Status reached an all time high. This 

positive statistic supports market research results, which 

clearly indicate that Members believe the Racing Rewards 

program provides added value to VRC Membership.

In its eighth year of operation, Racing Rewards continued 

to foster loyalty among Members, with nearly 30% of 

Members claiming that the program influences their 

raceday attendance and 80% of Members believing 

the program is a good initiative.

In addition, support for the program resulted in a record 

27 Members attending every VRC racemeeting held 

during 2008/09. The achievement of these Members 

was acknowledged on Racing Rewards Raceday, featuring 

the Aurie’s Star Handicap, on 8 August 2009.

The increase in the number of Members who achieved 

Group Status is shown in the table on the opposite page.

Members’ Events
Members’ Events were very well supported during 2008/09, 

with one-third of Members attending at least one event 

during the year. New events included a Members’ Theatre 

Night (Wicked) and Flemington Walking Tours, both of 

which were popular among Members.

Strong attendances were also recorded at the 

following events:

• Members’ Spring Fashion Cocktail Party

• VRC Racing Tour – Hong Kong

•  Members’ Golf Day at The Heritage Golf and 

Country Club

• Young Members’ End of Season Ball at Crown Palladium

•  Emirates Junior Members’ Marquee on Emirates 

Stakes Day

• Members’ Wine Appreciation Lunch

• ‘An evening with…’ nights.

Melbourne Cup Carnival Members’ 
Reserved Car Parks
The popularity of the Members’ Reserved Car 

Parks during the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival was 

demonstrated by the strong sales in all areas. For the 

first time, The Domain reached capacity on all days of 

the Carnival, while The Nursery sold out on Emirates 

Stakes Day for only the second time.

The following initiatives were implemented for the 

2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival in order to enhance 

the overall experience for Members and their guests:

•  A reduction in Pedestrian Pass limits to 

reduce overcrowding

• Improved security measures

• A catered Car Site area in The Nursery

• An internal traffic management plan in The Nursery

•  Collaboration with Flemington Green Fields partners 

to reduce the environmental impact in the Members’ 

Reserved Car Parks.

Membership overview
Despite the global financial crisis, the Club 

strengthened its Membership base during 2008/09. 

As a result of the cap on Full Membership, Restricted 

Membership continued to grow, with the number of 

Restricted Members increasing to 3,616. This increase 

is largely attributable to the strong 96% Full Membership 

retention rate, which has increased the waiting period 

for elevation to Full Membership status, further 

maintaining the exclusivity associated with 

VRC Membership.

During the 2008/09 season, the Membership 

Department implemented several initiatives to 

improve the Membership offering and increase 

Member satisfaction. These included:

•  A Members’ Benefit Program, which included 

a range of discounts offered by a number of 

Club sponsors

•  A new dining venue – Members’ Old Grandstand 

First Floor Reserved Dining

•  The ability for Members to purchase tickets and 

redeem Racing Rewards points via the Club’s 

new online store.

A breakdown of Membership categories at the 

conclusion of the 2008/09 Racing Season is on 

the opposite page.

Member attendance
A summary of attendance by Members and their 

guests during the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival 

is shown opposite.

Of noteworthy importance was Member attendance 

outside of the Melbourne Cup Carnival, which increased 

from an average of four to five racemeetings attended 

during the 2008/09 Racing Season. 
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Member attendance

2006 2007 2008

Total
Members

and guests % Total
Members

and guests % Total
Members

and guests %
Derby 129,089 54,563 42.3 115,705 54,310 46.9 117,776 53,103 45.1

Cup 106,691 41,247 38.7 102,411 41,667 40.7 107,280 43,182 40.3

Oaks 104,131 50,130 48.1 95,230 47,417 49.8 89,338 42,216 47.3

Stakes 78,158 42,548 54.4 84,067 45,242 53.8 81,652 43,991 53.9

Total 418,069 188,488 45.1 397,413 188,636 47.5 396,046 182,492 46.1

Membership Categories

No. of Members
Full 21,997

Restricted 3,616

Life 98

Pre 1979 506

Provisional 117

Absentee 1,553

Junior 1,115

Total 29,002

Racing Rewards Group Status

Reward Group

No. of 
Members 
2007/08

No. of 
Members 
2008/09

Group 3 4,006 4,247

Group 2 1,836 1,873

Group 1 1,200 1,566

Total 7,042 7,686
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Racing The right feature races at the right time, combined with 
substantial prizemoney and historical significance, attracted 
connections of the best available horses from Australasia 
to Flemington and, in the case of the Emirates Melbourne Cup, 
from around the globe.



Victoria Racing Club
Annual Report 2009

19 

The 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival provided some spectacular racing 

and memorable moments, but none could compare to the 148th running 

of the race that stops a nation. In one of the closest finishes in Cup history, 

the Bart Cummings-trained Viewed survived a late challenge by English stallion 

Bauer to take the race. Viewed gave Bart his 12th Melbourne Cup victory, by far 

the most of any trainer, and delivered owner Dato Tan Chin Nam his fourth 

Cup win, equalling the record of most Melbourne Cup wins by an owner.

Overview
An underscore of the Club’s overall success in the 

season under review was the high quality and great 

competitiveness of racing at Flemington, especially at 

feature meetings, highlighted by the 2008 Melbourne 

Cup Carnival.

Facts emerging from the 24 VRC racemeetings in 

2008/09 include:

•  22 days at Flemington, in its second season of racing 

following a successful track reconstruction 

• Two midweek racedays at Bendigo, in October and July

• 202 races with a total of 2,333 starters (average 11.5) 

•  13 Group One, 10 Group Two, 14 Group Three and 

30 Listed Races for a total of 67 ‘black type’ events

•  One-third of all races conducted by the Club hold 

‘black type’ status

•  $35,882,273 in prizemoney was paid – an increase 

of 2.43% on the previous season.

The volume of Group or Listed Races as a percentage 

of all races on the Flemington program is particularly 

noteworthy; it is a pillar for the VRC’s reputation 

worldwide as a promoter of excellence in 

thoroughbred racing.

Highlights
2008 September and October racemeetings
•  The dominance of Weekend Hussler in the 

Makybe Diva Stakes

•  The victory of high class filly Gallica in the 

Edward Manifold Stakes before her dual success 

at Group One level

•  A top class field in the Patinack Turnbull Stakes, led 

home by the emerging middle distance star Littorio

2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival
•  The win of top-class colt Northern Meteor in the 

Coolmore Stud Stakes

•  A superb staying performance by South Australian 

colt Rebel Raider in the AAMI Victoria Derby, 

defeating Whobegotyou
•  ‘Cup’s King’ trainer Bart Cummings’ unprecedented 12th 

Melbourne Cup, delivered by the narrow victory of his 

charge Viewed over the fast finishing UK visitor Bauer
•  The close-up fifth placing in the Cup of Dermot Weld’s 

Irish racemare Profound Beauty
•  An outstanding victory by Samantha Miss in the 

Crown Oaks

•  The barnstorming win of Flemington straight track 

specialist Swick in the Patinack Farm Classic, a leg 

of the 2008 GLOBAL SPRINT CHALLENGE™

•  The authoritative win by All Silent over a top-class 

capacity field in the Emirates Stakes

2009 Super Saturday
•  The outstanding win by Scenic Blast in the Crown 

Newmarket Handicap, carrying topweight, moving 

him closer towards ultimately emulating champions 

Takeover Target (2006) and Miss Andretti (2007) in 

completing the Lightning/Newmarket/King’s Stand 

Stakes (UK) treble

•  Heart of Dreams’ victory in the Cadbury Guineas, 

ridden by top jockey Craig Newitt, who lost his father, 

Guy, in a tragic road accident seven days beforehand

•  The exciting photo-finish in the Darley Australian Cup, 

which favoured the ageless gelding Niconero

Other racing highlights
•  The dominant win of Scenic Blast in the Coolmore 

Lightning Stakes (first leg of the 2009 GLOBAL 

SPRINT CHALLENGE™) prompted plans for yet another 

Australian assault on the prestigious sprint races 

at Royal Ascot in England

•  The introduction of ‘Flemington Finals Day’ on 

Saturday, 4 July in place of Grand National Steeplechase 

Day. The final races of five series were programmed: 

VRC-CRV Winter Championship, All Victorian Sprint, 

Banjo Paterson, Slickpix Silver Bowl and Rivette Series

Summary
The strategies in place for Flemington race 

programming include:

• Securing optimal race dates

•  Setting timely feature races, run over an appropriate 

distance, under suitable weight, gender and/or age 

eligibility conditions

•  Offering the highest possible prizemoney in the 

various race segments. 

The strategic placement of feature races, at the 

right time, at Flemington, that carry great historical 

importance to the racing and breeding industries and 

that offer significant financial rewards to racehorse 

owners, trainers and riders, is a key to the VRC’s 

positioning as one of the world’s great racing clubs.
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Course proper
During 2008/09, Flemington course proper staged 

22 meetings in an unusually dry year; with 18 months 

of consolidation since the reconstruction, it performed 

extremely well. Reports have been very positive and 

the track is expected to be at its optimum for 2009/10. 

Two renovations of the course proper were undertaken 

during the year to encourage growth – one in November 

after the Melbourne Cup Carnival and one in March 

following Family Day.

Grandstand facilities
The Flemington Grandstands and facilities are recognised 

as world-class and during 2008/09, maintenance 

and renovation works focused on ensuring that this 

recognition continued. Major maintenance work 

occurred in the Members’ Old Grandstand, Hill Stand 

and Winning Post Enclosure.

Upgrades to the audiovisual infrastructure occurred 

throughout the facilities, with investment in LCD 

televisions. Further upgrades are scheduled for the 

upcoming financial year to provide the best facilities 

for all patrons.

Event Operations
The Event Operations team continued to develop 

and enforce best practice in major events with 

the management of the operations for the 2008 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. Developments included 

expanded temporary infrastructure to meet clients’ 

needs, further advancement with permanent CCTV, 

and a stronger focus on environmental sustainability 

and waste management through Flemington’s 

Green Fields program.

In 2008/09, Event Operations expanded its scope 

from solely racedays to also include the co-ordination 

of the three major music festivals which were held 

at Flemington Racecourse.

Flemington 
Racecourse

The ongoing maintenance program for Flemington’s facilities 
will ensure that the Club’s clients will be presented with the 
best possible venue for their special event.

Water resources
Flemington is a major user of water and the Club has 

been researching a number of options to develop 

a sustainable water strategy.

During the year, this included investigating the 

feasibility of using sewer mining to produce recycled 

water and desalination of ground water using 

innovative in situ desalination technology. A detailed 

analysis of Flemington rainfall and water usage was 

conducted and the Club subsequently entered into an 

agreement with City West Water that caps Flemington’s 

water usage. While the Water Management Action Plan 

demonstrates the Club’s commitment to the efficient 

use of this resource, it still allows the necessary amount 

of water usage to maintain the high international 

standards set at the Flemington Racecourse and gardens.

The Club continues to work closely with City West 

Water, Melbourne Water, Southern Rural Water and 

the Environment Protection Authority on various 

water efficiency strategies. 

Grounds and gardens
Significant improvements were made to the main car 

park off Epsom Road. Stage 1 was completed in mid 

September. Stage 2, which incorporated grass parking 

bays and asphalt roadways, was completed by the end 

of December.

An irrigation system was installed in both stages. Both 

of these areas will be irrigated with desalinated water.

Ongoing improvements continued around the car park 

precinct with the planting of additional advanced trees.
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The Melbourne Cup Carnival has, over the years, become synonymous 

with magnificent displays of colourful blooms. Timed to peak during 

the first week of November to coincide with the Carnival, the rose gardens 

at Flemington Racecourse form one of the largest public rose gardens 

in Australia, boasting more than 16,000 rose plants.

Inset right: Millbank, Dr Doute’s, Lucky Thunder and Caymans charge towards 
the finish in the 2008 Carbine Club Stakes on AAMI Victoria Derby Day.
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MYER Fashions on the Field is heralded as Australia’s largest and 

most successful outdoor fashion event. The competition has evolved 

since it commenced in 1962, when entrants were bound by economic 

restraints, to a national competition attracting more than 1,500 entries 

across all categories during the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival.
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Key achievements included:

•  Nationally, more than 315,000 people attended 

racemeetings throughout Australia on Emirates 

Melbourne Cup Day

•  The Melbourne Cup Carnival was responsible for more 

than 100,000 nights of commercial accommodation 

worth more than $27.6 million to the Victorian economy

•  Racegoers spent more than $27 million in Victoria 

on the purchase of fashion items for the Carnival 

and a further $6.9 million on personal grooming.

The Media Research Group estimated the coverage 

gained by the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival to be the 

equivalent of $17,924,842 in print media advertising value 

and that it reached 81% of the Australian population 

on average 2.9 times each.

2008 Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour
The 2008 Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour took 

Australia’s most famous sporting trophy to 25 different 

communities across Australia and New Zealand. The 

Loving Cup travelled to Sheffield (TAS), Adelaide (SA), 

Murray Bridge (SA), Sydney (NSW), Nowra (NSW), 

Grenfell (NSW), Carinda (NSW), Christchurch (NZ), 

Queenstown (NZ), Auckland (NZ), Albany (WA), Perth 

(WA), Broome (WA), Darwin (NT), Cairns (QLD), Charters 

Towers (QLD), Birdsville (QLD), Jundah (QLD), Mitchell 

(QLD), Brisbane (QLD), Manangatang (VIC), Hay (NSW), 

Yarrawonga (VIC), Bendigo (VIC) and Stony Creek (VIC).

Celebrating the Cup’s heroes, the tour highlighted 

the career achievements of its five ambassadors – 

Des Gleeson (former Chairman of Stewards) and former 

champion Melbourne Cup winning jockeys, John Letts, 

Roy Higgins, John Marshall and Greg Hall. Each added 

personality and emotion to the events staged around 

the country as they shared stories about the great race 

and the iconic 18ct gold trophy.

Pin & Win promotion
The Alfred Hospital completed its second year as 

the official charity of the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

in 2008. From the sale of Cup lapel pins, through the 

Pin & Win competition, $473,525 was raised for 

The Alfred Trauma Centre.

2009 Flemington Festival of Racing
The Flemington Festival of Racing commenced with 

Super Saturday, exactly one month after the devastating 

Victorian bushfires. The Victorian Racing Industry 

joined in tribute, dedicating Super Saturday to thanking 

the volunteers in recognition of their continued hard 

work in protecting communities affected by the fires. 

The combined efforts raised $1.3 million for the Country 

Fire Authority Public Fund (with $1 million donated 

by Darley) to promote volunteerism and support the 

welfare of volunteers.

MYER Fashions on the Field
MYER Fashions on the Field was once again conducted 

on a national scale, with heats for the women’s racewear 

category held in the capital cities of NSW, TAS, QLD, 

WA and SA preceding the final at Flemington on Crown 

Oaks Day. Further categories included Men’s Racewear, 

exclusive invitation-only Design and Millinery Awards 

and a new award – ‘The Carson Award’ – judged by 

style icon Carson Kressley.

Entries across all categories totalled 1,500, consolidating 

the competition’s position after 46 years as Australia’s 

largest and most successful outdoor fashion event. 

The coveted national title for Women’s Racewear was 

awarded to the representative for Victoria, Kirsty 

MacGillivray, who received a brand new SAAB 9-3 

Convertible and a share of the $360,000 prize pool.

Emirates Stakes Day Fashions on the Field welcomed 

1,500 pre-registered entries across three categories – 

junior, intermediate and senior. Hosted by Channel 

Seven’s Melissa Hetherington and six-time Olympian 

James Tomkins, contestants had the opportunity 

to meet Miss Universe Australia, Laura Dundovic, 

Home & Away stars and AFL players.

A fashionable judging panel was again assembled, 

which included milliners, designers, media, and 

representatives from Myer, Emirates and the VRC. 

International comedian and actor Rob Schneider 

mingled with the contestants and judged the 

senior category.

For the first time, MYER Fashions on the Field also 

extended to the Flemington Festival of Racing 

and Super Saturday played host to the inaugural 

Couples Competition. Michael and Lindy Klim were 

the competition’s ambassadors and Channel Seven’s 

Mia Greves and James Tobin were MCs for the event. 

Attracting 30 couples, the competition added fashion 

and entertainment elements to the feature autumn 

meeting and was positively received by sponsors, 

media and racegoers.

2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival economic impact
An independent study conducted by IER found that 

the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival generated a gross 

economic benefit of $366.1 million for the Victorian 

economy. In addition, the Melbourne Cup Carnival 

was found to be responsible for an uplift in national 

gross economic benefit of just under $700 million, 

which included spending generated at racetracks, 

restaurants, functions, hotels, clubs and private 

house parties.

An independent study found that the 2008 Melbourne Cup 
Carnival generated a gross economic benefit of $366.1 million 
for the Victorian economy and was responsible for an uplift 
in national gross economic benefit of just under $700 million.

Marketing
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A total of 74 sponsors participated during the year, 47 during 
the Melbourne Cup Carnival. A total of 40 sponsorships 
were renewed, 26 were for the Melbourne Cup Carnival. 
Twelve new sponsors were signed during the year.

Sponsorship 
and Corporate 
Development

AAMI completed its 17th year as the Victoria Derby 

sponsor and remains one of the most loyal and 

long-standing supporters of Flemington and the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival.

Tabcorp expanded its relationship to become the 

Club’s Exclusive Wagering Partner at Flemington. 

This partnership, which will continue in 2009/10, 

will embrace a range of branding, hospitality and 

promotional initiatives.

Patinack Farm became a significant new sponsor 

when it accepted a naming rights sponsorship package 

to four races, including the Group One Patinack Farm 

Classic on Emirates Stakes Day, Group One Patinack 

Turnbull Stakes, as well as two Group Three mares’ races, 

the Patinack Let’s Elope Stakes and Matron Stakes, which 

was renamed the Patinack Farm Stakes. 

During the Melbourne Cup Carnival, the Club welcomed 

new race sponsors Schiavello and Service Stream and 

event support partners ANZ, AGL and ING. 

Super Saturday in March was supported by key partners 

Darley, Crown, Cadbury Schweppes, PFD Food Services 

and MSS Security, while Girls’ Day Out in September 

was supported by Decjuba, Sofitel, Henry Buck’s, Voodoo, 

Patinack Farm and The Hong Kong Jockey Club.

Corporate marquees
The Melbourne Cup Carnival once again delivered the 

largest and most popular corporate event in Australia.

Five corporate enclosures were in operation for the 

Carnival – Ascot, Winning Post, Trackside, Home Straight 

and Home Turn – which combined, housed 143 marquees 

accommodating 146 corporate clients. 

This result defied the economic downturn, recording 

a small increase in revenue and achieving a client 

retention rate of 76%. However, the continuing trend 

towards single day bookings in preference to four-day 

bookings impacted revenue growth.

Corporate suites
Sixty per cent of the suites at Flemington were sold 

on an annual basis, with two new annual clients and 

one existing client agreeing to long-term contracts.

During the Melbourne Cup Carnival, suites were 

at near capacity for the four days.

Despite the economic slowdown, corporate 

support at Flemington remained buoyant in a clear 

demonstration of the enduring strength of the Club’s 

corporate partnerships.

Revenue from sponsorship increased by 2.6%, corporate 

marquee revenue increased by 1.3% and revenue from 

corporate suites recorded a small decrease of 3.6%.

Long-standing Club sponsors and corporate hospitality 

clients remained loyal to Flemington and the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival, with all of the Club’s major partners, 

official partners and the majority of key corporate 

hospitality clients being retained.

A total of 74 sponsors participated during the year, 

47 during the Melbourne Cup Carnival. A total of 40 

sponsorships were renewed, 26 were for the Melbourne 

Cup Carnival. Twelve new sponsors were signed during 

the year.

Two new sponsor categories were introduced during 

the season, Event Support Partners, to reflect the 

growing number of sponsors supporting the Club’s 

events and programs as their primary focus, and 

Sustainability Partners, to support the Flemington 

Green Fields initiative.

During the year, Flemington’s official beer pourage 

rights holder, Lion Nathan, agreed to a new three-year 

sponsorship contract, with a two-year option, which will 

take its supply sponsorship at Flemington to 11 years. Also, 

one of the Club’s longest serving sponsors, Schweppes, 

signed a new five-year agreement with the Club, which 

will take its association at Flemington beyond 30 years. 

Both the new Lion Nathan and Schweppes agreements 

commenced in August 2009.

The Club’s Principal Partner, Emirates, remains a partner 

of the Club in the truest sense, again supporting the 

Emirates Melbourne Cup Parade, Emirates Stakes Day 

Fashions on the Field, Emirates Melbourne Cup Tour and 

International Strategy, in addition to its Cup and Stakes 

race sponsorships. Emirates completed its 12th year as a 

Club sponsor and sixth as Melbourne Cup race sponsor 

and Club Principal Partner.

Crown continued to broaden its sponsorship beyond 

the Crown Oaks, again hosting the successful Melbourne 

Cup Carnival Live Site and also taking up sponsorship 

of the Newmarket Handicap on Super Saturday. Crown 

hosted the biggest private marquee on the racecourse 

during the Melbourne Cup Carnival and partnered with 

the Club to conduct another highly successful Oaks Club 

luncheon on Crown Oaks eve. 
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Catering During the 2008/09 season, catering at Flemington Racecourse 
continued to evolve in response to customer needs. The focus 
remained on operational efficiencies within the overall catering 
business, which encompassed raceday catering, non-raceday 
functions and expansion into music festival management.

•  Alterations to the catering layout in the Undercroft 

allowed for improved menu options, which appealed 

to a broader customer demographic

•  Flemington – The Event Centre diversified its business 

to include music festivals, such as Big Day Out, 

Future Music Festival and Good Vibrations, which 

assisted PRC to achieve economies of scale in the 

areas of purchasing and labour requirements

•  The expansion of healthy food options available 

through the majority of Members’ and public food 

outlets assisted patrons with dietary sensitivities

•  The commitment by PRC as a Flemington Green Fields 

partner and the promotion of sustainable practices 

within the Club’s catering operations, most notably 

in the area of waste management

•  The Club’s involvement with SecondBite, a not-for-profit 

organisation, which during the 2008 Melbourne Cup 

Carnival distributed approximately 2.7 tonnes of 

unused food to homeless missions and those in 

disadvantaged circumstances

Co-operation between the Club and its head caterer 

Peter Rowland Catering (PRC) at Flemington identified 

additional revenue opportunities, which in turn afforded 

increased food and beverage offerings to both Members 

and public patrons. These additional opportunities 

resulted in a revenue increase of 7.7%, while operational 

efficiencies increased the Club’s catering profit by a 

pleasing 14.4%. Importantly, this was not at the expense 

of service or quality.

The panel of accredited contract caterers engaged by 

the Club for the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival featured 

a cross section of Melbourne’s most prominent caterers 

and included Peter Rowland Catering, Rowland Major 

Events, Epicure Catering, The Big Group, Life’s a Party, 

Libby Reid Catering, Table Matters and Damm Fine Food.

Key initiatives 2008/09
•  Customer Relations personnel employed in each 

Members’ dining facility. This enabled immediate 

communication and action for any guest concerns 

and ensured that all feedback was conveyed through 

the correct channels

•  Continued upgrades to catering equipment, which 

enabled improved food offerings, most notably the high 

tea on the first floor of the Members’ Old Grandstand
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Providing patrons with exceptional dining facilities has been a long 
standing tradition at Flemington Racecourse. Throughout the Club’s history, 
vivid descriptions depict racegoers enjoying picnics in the car park and on 
the hill. Lunching has always been an important part of attending the races. 
This is still true today as the VRC, with its caterers Peter Rowland Catering, 
continue to maintain Flemington’s international reputation of outstanding 
dining facilities.
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In 1993, the Melbourne Cup was won for the first time by a horse bred, 

trained and owned beyond Australasia – Vintage Crop. This victory 

stimulated overseas interest in the Cup and subsequently led to the 

internationalisation of Australia’s greatest sporting and social event.
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Business 
Development

During the season, the Club’s Business Development 
Department continued to concentrate on maximising 
financial returns from both racing and non-racing activities. 
The department’s responsibilities were expanded to include 
the development and management of all signature event 
assets. A key deliverable continues to be the provision of 
integrated customer service support to all VRC business units.

During the year, the CSC recorded the following results: 

• Orders totalled $21.507 million

• Telephone calls decreased by 2.21% to 96,787

• Email enquiries increased by 14.2% to 14,180. 

Customer Relationship Management (CRM) 
The VRC committed further resources to the development 

of CRM functionality within the Victorian Racing Industry, 

by working with RVL, to introduce an online bookings 

system through the Club’s website, as well as an in-house 

ticketing system.

The online system became operational in June 2009 and 

within two months preceding the end of the financial 

year, a total of 5,295 transactions totalling sales of 

$2.76 million was recorded.

The Chairman’s Club
The Chairman’s Club was fully subscribed at 

80 Memberships for the 2008/09 season.

The Terrace and The Panorama Restaurants
At 320 annual seats sold, the Terrace Restaurant 

experienced one of the highest engagement levels in 

recent years. The Panorama Restaurant also experienced 

a record number of 109 annual seat holders for the season.

Melbourne Cup Business Network (MCBN)
The MCBN now has 980 Australian and international 

businesses as registered members, and this continues 

to grow. The business network is a key component in 

the Club’s strategy to leverage the Melbourne Cup brand 

and to take key Carnival and venue messages to the 

world year round.

In 2008, the International Lounge reached capacity for 

all four days of the Carnival. A successful Cup Eve Gala 

Business Dinner with 250 guests, featuring both local 

and international racing personalities, was held for 

the first time as part of the program.

Event and product development 
The Club continued to develop its special events 

program. During 2008/09, this included Footy Finals 

Fever Lunch at Flemington, Hatstravagance – an evening 

event of millinery and fashion (which reached capacity 

in its first year), the Retail Village on Decjuba Girls’ Day 

Out and Melbourne Cup Carnival Preview Day.

Business Development’s syndicated Melbourne 

Cup Carnival products were extremely successful. 

All marquees, restaurants and enclosures operated 

at a 91% capacity during the four days of the Carnival 

and exceeded budgeted figures by 8%. 

During 2008/09, Business Development generated 

in excess of $8.4 million in net revenue, an increase from 

$8 million in the previous year and was responsible for 

the sales and marketing of a broad portfolio, including:

• Premium and public restaurants

• Marquee dining facilities

• Flemington Customer Service Centre

•  Development of our Customer Relationship 

Management system, including online bookings

• Tourism products

• Raceday group packages and private raceday functions 

•  Event development, sales maximisation 

and management

• Flemington – The Event Centre

• Melbourne Cup Business Network program.

Flemington – The Event Centre
•  More than 1,250 enquiries for functions were received in 

2008/09 for weddings, conferences, product launches, 

exhibitions, a range of dinners, social, corporate, 

association and charitable events

• Conducted 317 events (including 59 weddings)

•  Conversion rate on enquiries was 24% with a 

43% return of repeat functions or repeat clients

•  With the success of Big Day Out in 2008, two additional 

music festivals were secured – Good Vibrations Festival 

and Future Music Festival

•  Revenue from non-raceday business exceeded 

$8.1 million

Tourism and public sales 
During the season, the Club developed a strong network 

of travel operators which presented the Club’s products 

in Australia and overseas markets. This was supported by 

the VRC’s participation at a number of travel tradeshows.

Reserved seat sales increased for the 2008 Melbourne 

Cup Carnival, with a four-day Lawn Stand and single day 

Emirates Stakes Day package available for the first time. 

A total of 15,212 reserved seating packages were sold. 

The General Admission pre-sale strategy continued in 

2008 with the awareness of this strategy evident in the 

number of sales in the lead up to racedays, particularly 

Derby eve when 5,283 tickets were sold through 

Ticketmaster. A total of 109,726 General Admission 

tickets were sold for the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival.

Customer Service Centre (CSC)
The continued development of our CSC plays an integral 

role in the Club’s commitment to excellence in the 

provision of service to Members, the public, industry 

participants and internal customers.
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The Club has also introduced a Staff Exchange Program, 

which has been established in conjunction with 

a number of best practice organisations for mutual 

learning and staff development. Placements for this 

program will commence in 2010.

Equally, the Club has also used its staff focus groups 

to review and provide direct input into the Club’s vision, 

mission statement and organisational values. The Club’s 

new vision, mission statement and organisational values 

were ratified by the VRC Board in May 2009 and these 

statements were revised following input from all staff.

Learning and development
As part of the Club’s international staff exchange 

initiative, five overseas staff were hosted during 

the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival period.

They included:

Arlington Racing Club 1

Singapore Turf Club 4

Participants worked across numerous departments 

during the exchange program in the lead up to the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival.

Recruitment and selection
The Club previously introduced a ‘Recruitment Essentials 

at the VRC’ training program for all hiring managers, 

and this work has continued with the introduction of 

a new job description template which is competency 

based. All interview guides, used as part of the selection 

process, are now competency based, providing optimal 

rigour for all hiring decisions.

Succession planning
A talent and succession planning strategy was developed 

and implemented across the Club during the first half 

of 2009. This strategy included the identification of 

all critical roles, as well as the formalisation of ‘high 

potential’ talent pool across the Club. Each critical role 

was assessed with potential successors identified for 

each role, where possible, to ensure the Club is well 

placed with succession planning strategies for each 

key position and that key talent is retained.

Work organisation
Close working relationships continue with the Australian 

Workers Union (AWU) and the Media Entertainment 

Arts Alliance. A revised Enterprise Bargaining Agreement 

with the AWU was ratified in early 2009 and is currently 

in operation.

A number of changes occurred during 2009 as a result 

of an organisational review and these changes were 

implemented across a small number of departments. 

All changes and people impacts have been managed 

in line with core organisational values.

Our people
As at 31 July 2009, the Club staffing requirements 

totalled 160 full time and six part time staff. During 

the Melbourne Cup Carnival period, the Club employed 

approximately 1,100 casual raceday staff and, significantly, 

all staff with the exception of seven, reported for work 

for the four days of racing. Importantly, 93% of the 

Club’s casual staff pool returned to Flemington for the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival from the previous year, which 

is testament to their commitment to the Carnival.

Employee engagement and culture 
During late 2008 and early 2009, following a range of 

staff focus groups, the Club formalised a clear people 

strategy, which focused on employee engagement and 

culture. In particular, two themes were identified that 

centred on providing a clear sense of vision and purpose, 

including communication, as well as greater learning 

and development opportunities for our people.

Since this time, the Club has implemented a range of 

ideas and initiatives that have been positively received 

and which link directly to the Club’s overall people 

strategy. They include, but are not limited to, the 

establishment of a third-party learning alliance that 

offers best practice training solutions, the introduction 

of a learning and development internal website, a new 

Staff Benefits Program, a new performance management 

framework that focuses on staff development, as well 

as the introduction of a range of internal communication 

forums, including CEO staff address and staff newsletter.

During late 2008 and early 2009, following a range of staff focus 
groups, the Club formalised a clear people strategy, which focused 
on employee engagement and culture. In particular, two themes 
were identified that centred on providing a clear sense of vision 
and purpose, including communication, as well as greater 
learning and development opportunities for our people.

Human 
Resources
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Flemington Green Fields
In October 2008, the VRC announced the establishment 

of Flemington Green Fields, a program of sustainability 

initiatives intended to achieve higher standards 

in responsible event and venue management. 

All Sustainability Partners – AGL Energy Limited (AGL), 

Cleanevent, Peter Rowland Catering and SecondBite – 

offered considerable expertise to the program.

AGL, Australia’s largest integrated renewable energy 

company, provided 100% GreenPower™ for all 

four racedays of the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival. 

In addition, AGL worked with the VRC throughout the 

season to develop and implement a range of energy 

efficiency measures at Flemington Racecourse.

The Club partnered with Cleanevent to deliver a 

Waste Minimisation Plan that utilised on-site recycling 

infrastructure, waste supervision, and auditing and 

educational communications to achieve zero per cent 

contamination of commingled recyclable waste.

To further reduce waste, SecondBite, a not-for-profit 

organisation, collected fresh and nutritious food that 

would otherwise go to waste. Working closely with the 

panel of accredited caterers, SecondBite redistributed 

2.7 tonnes of unused food, providing 5,300 meals 

to those in need. As an extension to the partnership, 

SecondBite also provided a team of sustainability 

ambassadors to assist in educating patrons about 

the programs in place and encouraging them to use 

the recycling facilities available.

The inaugural Flemington Green Fields Raceday 

was conducted on 10 May and the Club continues 

to recruit Sustainability Partners to ensure the 

continuous improvement of Flemington’s long-term 

environmental sustainability.

In October 2008, the VRC announced the establishment 
of Flemington Green Fields, a program of sustainability 
initiatives intended to achieve higher standards in responsible 
event and venue management. 

Sustainability
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Net cash position
As at 31 July 2009, the Club had borrowings of $23.5 million, 

which was a reduction of $3 million on the previous 

year’s closing position. The Club is on target to achieve 

its objective of reducing its net debt position to below 

$20 million at the close of the 2011 financial year.

Wagering
Wagering on Flemington racemeetings, despite one 

less meeting than in the previous season, increased 

in all categories of betting.

On course turnover increased by $2.2 million, or 3.7%, 

on the previous year. Total wagering turnover on the 

Club’s meetings was $704.9 million, an increase of 18.3%.

Risk management
Significant achievements occurred during the year in 

the area of risk management. The continual identification 

of risks, of a general and OH&S nature, was a priority. 

Once identified, rectification plans were developed 

and implemented to mitigate those risks.

Additional focus was also placed on the improvement of 

Club policies and procedures. Measures were implemented 

to ensure documentation is updated and improved, 

as well as periodically reviewed.

The financial result for the 2008/09 year was a net profit 

of $1.98 million. This was a significant improvement 

on the prior year, which was affected by the outbreak 

of Equine Influenza (EI).

Notwithstanding the recorded net profit, the year from 

a financial perspective again proved to be a difficult and 

challenging one for the Club, due to the global financial 

crisis, which had an immediate impact on some elements 

of the business, particularly non-racing revenue.

During the year, the Club closely monitored all 

discretionary expenditure and made appropriate cuts 

wherever possible to ensure that the Club achieved 

a profit for the year.

The financial result of the 2008 Melbourne Cup Carnival 

significantly contributed to the overall result for the year. 

Admission revenue increased by $1.8 million, or 16.6%, 

for the year and the majority of this came from the 

Melbourne Cup Carnival. Revenue from racing activities 

increased by $6.4 million on the previous year, which 

had been affected by the outbreak of EI.

Included in expenditure for the year were interest costs 

of $2.04 million, which increased by $0.2 million on the 

previous year.

Finance



Victoria Racing Club
Annual Report 2009

33 

Board responsibility
The Board meets on a monthly basis, and otherwise as 

the need arises, to discuss issues affecting the Club and 

to review the Club’s operations. The Directors operate 

according to a strict code of conduct and the rules set 

down by the Club’s constitution and by-laws. 

Sub-committees
The Board establishes sub-committees, as required, 

to assist in carrying out its primary functions. 

These sub-committees meet on a regular basis and 

act in an advisory capacity making recommendations 

to the Board. Examples of sub-committees active 

over the last year include:

• Audit and Risk Management

• Remuneration

• Grounds and Facilities

• Masterplan.

Corporate reporting
The Board receives financial, legal and departmental 

reports on a monthly basis and otherwise as required.

Annually, the Chief Executive and the General Manager 

Business and Finance make the following representations 

to the Board:

•  That the Financial Statements are complete and 

present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of 

the financial position and operating results of the Club

•  That the above statement is founded on a sound 

system of internal controls and risk management that 

implements the policies adopted by the Board and that 

the Club’s risk management and internal controls are 

operating efficiently and effectively.

Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee consists 

of the following Directors:

P J Fekete (Chair)

M S Burn

P C Barnett.

This committee meets on at least three occasions 

throughout the year and on further occasions as 

the need arises.

The committee meets with, and receives regular 

reports from, the Club’s auditors and management. 

The committee presents its findings and makes 

recommendations to the Board.

The Board of Directors of Victoria Racing Club Limited 

is ultimately responsible for the governance of the 

Club. A strong governance regime remains a priority 

of the Board, particularly in light of recent events in the 

financial markets and the consequences felt within the 

broader business world, including the racing industry.

This year, the most notable governance initiatives of 

the Club have been:

•  the implementation of a new, online, Club-wide 

procurement system to improve financial reporting 

procedures through more consistent monitoring 

and management of the Club’s expenditure

•  the adoption of a Purchasing and Procurement Policy, 
Contracts and Commitments Policy and Authority and 
Delegation Policy to support the new procurement 

system, increase awareness of the Club’s governance 

requirements and improve the way in which our 

people enter into commercial dealings

•  a renewed focus on safety initiatives, including the 

prioritising of capital expenditure where required 

•  planning for a more comprehensive risk management 

system involving all staff.

A description of the Club’s main corporate governance 

practices follows. All of these practices, unless otherwise 

stated, were in place for the whole financial year.

Board composition and term of office
•  The Board currently consists of eight independent 

Directors and the Chief Executive

•  Each independent Director must seek re-election 

every three years

•  The Chairman, Vice Chairman and Honorary Treasurer 

are appointed each year

•  The Chairman and Vice Chairman may serve for 

a maximum of eight years, and must vacate office 

at the Annual General Meeting following the date 

on which they attain the age of 68

•  Directors must resign office immediately upon 

attaining the age of 72

•  It is the Board’s intention to seek Directors with a broad 

range of skills and experience to assist it in carrying 

out its responsibilities and in meeting the Club’s 

strategic objectives

•  Should a casual vacancy arise on the Board, existing 

Directors have the power to fill that vacancy after 

considering the skills and experience of existing 

Board members

The age limits and periods of tenure described above 

have been reviewed and will be the subject of proposed 

amendments to the Club’s constitution at the 2009 AGM.

Corporate 
Governance
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Conflicts of interest
Directors are expected to avoid any action, position 

or interest that conflicts with an interest of the 

Club or may give any appearance of such a conflict. 

A Director who has a conflict or a perceived conflict 

with an interest of the Club must bring the matter 

to the notice of the other Directors.

The general principle adopted by the Board, in keeping 

with the Corporations Act, is that if any Director has a 

material interest in any matter that is being considered 

by the Board, then that Director will not be present while 

the matter is being considered.

Remuneration of senior executives
A Remuneration Committee comprising the Chairman, 

Vice Chairman and Honorary Treasurer reviews senior 

executive remuneration annually. The Chief Executive 

also attends these meetings.

Legal review
The VRC’s General Counsel is involved in the negotiation 

of all contracts and in any matters affecting the overall 

legal risk of the Club, advises on other legal matters that 

arise and reports monthly to the Board. External legal 

advice is sought where appropriate.

Governance culture
The Club remains committed to ensuring that all 

employees are appropriately inducted, trained and 

supported, as required, to ensure that corporate 

governance becomes second nature in all activities 

undertaken by the Club.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee operates 

in accordance with its terms of reference. Its main 

responsibilities include the following:

•  Reviewing the Financial Statements to determine 

whether they are complete and consistent with 

the information known to the Board and to assess 

whether the Financial Statements reflect appropriate 

accounting policies

•  Gaining an understanding of the areas of greatest 

risk and the risk management framework adopted 

by management to manage those risks

•  Discussing with external auditors any issues and 

making recommendations arising from the audit

•  Selection, evaluation and compensation of the 

external auditor.

Internal audit
The Club has an internal audit program in place that is 

designed to assist management in improving procedures 

and operations and to ensure that the Club has an 

effective framework of internal controls.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is 

responsible for ensuring that an adequate internal audit 

program is in place and for reviewing the findings from 

the work conducted by the internal auditor.

Codes of Conduct
The Club has developed separate codes of conduct for 

Directors and for employees.

The codes of conduct for both Directors and employees 

require the highest standards of professionalism and 

ethical behaviour to be maintained at all times.

Corporate Governance 
continued
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Directors’ Report

Victoria Racing Club Limited (‘the Club’) became a registered company 
under the Corporations Act 2001 on 10 April 2006.

The Directors of the Club submit herewith the annual financial report 
of the Club for the financial year ended 31 July 2009. In order to comply 
with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report 
as follows:
The names of the Directors of the Club during or since the end  
of the financial year are as follows. Directors’ particulars and  
profiles can be viewed in the Annual Report on pages 6 to 7.

R M Fitzroy P T Leeds T Poole
P C Barnett Mrs A M Elliott D G Monteith
P J Fekete M S Burn
W R Mackinnon Miss K L Bourke

Company Secretary
Dale Monteith, Chief Executive Officer.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Club during the year were the conduct 
of race meetings and the provision of training facilities for horses 
stabled and trained at Flemington.

Review of operations
The net profit for the period ending 31 July 2009 was $1.98 million 
compared with a net loss of $2.2 million for the prior year. Significant 
matters impacting the result were as follows:
•  Wagering related distributions of $27.07 million were received for 

the year, which is an increase of $0.3 million on the prior year
•  Revenues from racing activities increased by $6.38 million on  

the prior year as the Melbourne Cup Carnival of 2008 recovered 
from the Equine Influenza impacted event of 2007

•  Increased revenues from functions and the event management  
of additional music festivals contributed to the financial result  
of the year

•  Prizemoney increased by $0.85 million compared with the prior 
year, with the club conducting 24 meetings over the 12 month 
period, one fewer than the prior year

•  Interest costs of $2.04 million were expensed for the year compared 
with $1.84 million for the prior year.

The following items were recognised directly in equity during  
the year: 
•  Freehold land was independently valued at 31 July 2009, resulting  

in a reduction of $3.09 million
•  A cash flow hedge loss of $0.49 million was recognised relating  

to the Club’s interest rate hedging that has been in place since  
April 2008 

•  A loss of $0.5 million on the Club’s defined benefit superannuation 
plan was recognised following an actuarial review of the plans 
financial position.

The operating performance is viewed as a satisfactory result as  
the Club was able to contain the impact of the global financial crisis 
on its financial performance with revenue streams experiencing  
only a modest decline in the period to 31 July 2009. However, a more 
significant decline is expected in certain key revenue streams during 
the 2010 financial year. The Club has, through its budgeting process, 
identified and implemented cost saving measures that will counteract 
this expected revenue decline and enable the Club to remain in  
a sound financial position.

Changes in state of affairs
During the financial year, there was no significant change in the  
state of affairs of the Club than that referred to in the financial 
statements or notes thereto.

Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring 
subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Club,  
the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Club  
in future financial years.

Future developments
Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the 
operations of the Club in future financial years and the expected 
results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice 
to the Club. Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed  
in this Report.

Indemnification of officers and auditors
During the financial year, the Club paid a premium in respect  
of a contract insuring the Directors, officers and employees of the  
Club against a liability incurred as such a Director, officer or employee 
to the extent of all losses which the Club becomes legally obligated  
to pay on account of any claim. The Club has not otherwise, during  
or since the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an auditor of the Club against  
a liability incurred as such an auditor.
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Independence Declaration

Dividends
Under the Club’s constitution, no dividends may be declared or paid.

Directors’ meetings
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings  
and meetings of the Audit and Risk Management Committee held 
during the financial year and the number of meetings attended  
by each Director (while they were a Director). During the financial 
year, eleven Board meetings and three Audit and Risk Committee  
meetings were held.

Board of  
Directors

Audit and Risk 
Management 

Committee

Directors held att’d held att’d
Rod Fitzroy 11 11 – –
Peter Barnett 11 8 3 3
Peter Fekete 11 10 3 3
Bill Mackinnon* 5 5 – –
Paul Leeds 11 10 – –
Amanda Elliott 11 11 – –
Michael Burn 11 10 3 3
Katherine Bourke 11 11 – –
Tim Poole 11 10 – –
Dale Monteith 11 11 3 3

* Mr Mackinnon passed away on 15 February 2009.

Auditor
The firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continues in office as the 
Club’s auditor. The auditor’s Independence Declaration is included  
in the Financial Statements on page 37.

Rounding of amounts
The Club is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the financial report are rounded 
off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to 
Section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. On behalf of the Directors,

Rodney M Fitzroy Director
Melbourne, 23rd October 2009

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

550 Bourke Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78B
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

In accordance with Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001,  
I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence  
to the Directors of Victoria Racing Club Limited.

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of 
Victoria Racing Club Limited for the financial year ended 31 July 2009, 
I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been 
no contraventions of:
(i)  the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 

2001 in relation to the audit; and
(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Tony Brain Partner 
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne, 23rd October 2009

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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We have audited the accompanying financial report of Victoria 
Racing Club Limited, which comprises the balance sheet as at  
31 July 2009, and the income statement, cash flow statement and 
statement of recognised income and expense for the year ended  
on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other 
explanatory notes and the Directors’ declaration as set out on  
pages 39 to 59.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation  
and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility 
includes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to  
the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting 
estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

In Note 3, the Directors also state, in accordance with Accounting 
Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that 
compliance with the Australian equivalents to International  
Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, 
comprising the financial statements and notes, complies with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require  
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to  
audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit  
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial  
report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of  
the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant  
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial  

report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient  
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Auditor’s independence declaration
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.

Auditor’s opinion
In our opinion:
(a)  the financial report of Victoria Racing Club Limited is in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
 (i)  giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial  

position as at 31 July 2009 and of its performance  
for the year ended on that date; and

 (ii)  complying with Australian Accounting Standards  
(including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)  
and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b)  the financial report also complies with International  
Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 3.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Tony Brain Partner 
Chartered Accountants
Melbourne, 23rd October 2009

Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the Members of Victoria Racing Club Limited

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 490 121 060

550 Bourke Street
Melbourne VIC 3000
GPO Box 78B
Melbourne VIC 3001 Australia

DX 111
Tel: +61 (0) 3 9671 7000
Fax: +61 (0) 3 9671 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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Income Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

Notes
2009 
$000

2008 
$000

Revenue
Thoroughbred Racing Industry Distributions 3(l) 27,070 26,767

Betting Levies and Commissions 4,691 4,490

Acceptance Fees 3,579 3,337

Members’ Subscriptions and Entrance Fees 13,612 12,936

Admissions 12,633 10,834

Catering and Raceday Dining 40,318 38,152

Sponsorships and Broadcast Rights 17,807 16,714

Other Raceday Revenue 2,038 1,154

Racecourse 3,151 2,774

Interest on Cash and Cash Equivalents 154 177

Gaming and Functions 13,485 13,233

Net Gain on Disposal of Fixed Assets – 9

Share of Net Profits of Associates and Jointly Controlled Entities  
Accounted for Using the Equity Method 3(c),12 752 845

Other Revenue 588 156

Total Revenue 139,878 131,578

Expenditure
Returns to Owners:
– Prizemoney 35,882 35,031
– Other Payments and Subsidies 22 6

Catering and Raceday Dining 26,590 24,433

Sponsorships and Broadcast Rights 1,538 1,028

Other Raceday Expenditure 14,727 14,336

Racecourse Maintenance 14,043 14,325

Administration 7,432 7,306

Gaming and Functions 10,100 10,842

Information Technology 947 1,201

Marketing and Business Development 9,528 9,021

Membership 3,988 3,426

Occupancy 837 841

Finance Costs on Bank Bills and Loans Payable 8 2,042 1,842

Depreciation and Amortisation Expense 3(e) 10,217 10,157

Total Expenditure 137,893 133,795

Profit/(Loss) for the Year 5 1,985 (2,217)

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 59.
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Balance Sheet 
as at 31 July 2009

 Notes
2009 
$000

2008 
$000

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,598 3,361

Trade and Other Receivables 9 8,019 9,822

Inventories 3(b) 884 1,657

Prepayments 1,413 1,652

Total Current Assets 14,914 16,492

Non-current Assets
Investments Accounted for using the Equity Method 3(c),12 55 30

Other Financial Assets 10 8,526 8,526

Property, Plant and Equipment 3(e),(f),13 189,763 196,639

Other Intangible Assets 3(o),11 161 –

Total Non-current Assets 198,505 205,195

Total Assets 213,419 221,687

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 14 6,296 6,383

Fees in Advance 19,489 22,423

Borrowings 15 41 26,538

Provisions 3(i),16 2,937 2,967

Total Current Liabilities 28,763 58,311

Non-current Liabilities
Trade and Other Payables 14 – 250

Borrowings 15 23,586 127

Derivative Financial Liability 23 892 349

Provisions 3(i),16 3,601 3,979

Total Non-current Liabilities 28,079 4,705

Total Liabilities 56,842 63,016

Net Assets 156,577 158,671

Equity
Retained Earnings 5 99,234 97,744

Reserves 6 57,343 60,927

Total Equity 156,577 158,671

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 59.
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Statement of Recognised Income and Expense
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

2009 
$000

2008 
$000

(Loss)/Gain on Revaluation of Property (3,092) 19,385

Loss on Cash Flow Hedges Taken to Equity (492) (320)

Actuarial Loss on Defined Benefit Plan (495) (1,499)

Net (Loss)/Income Recognised Directly in Equity (4,079) 17,566

Profit/(Loss) for the Year 1,985 (2,217)

Total Recognised Income and Expense for the Year (2,094) 15,349

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 59.
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Cash Flow Statement 
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

Notes
2009
$000

2008
$000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Receipts from Racing Industry Distributions 30,174 32,076

Receipts from Members 15,432 14,835

Receipts from Racing Activities 86,756 81,373

Receipts from Gaming and Functions 14,963 14,523

Receipts from Racecourse 3,466 3,267

Receipts from Other Revenue 559 172

Payments for Prizemoney (40,104) (38,843)

Payments for Racing Activities (47,828) (45,252)

Payments for Racecourse Maintenance (16,090) (15,544)

Payments for Administrative Costs (6,934) (7,874)

Payments for Marketing and Business Development (10,541) (10,006)

Payments for Information Technology (1,051) (1,357)

Payments for Membership (4,427) (3,866)

Payments for Occupancy (929) (933)

Payments for Gaming and Functions (11,361) (11,803)

Interest Received 154 200

Interest and Other Costs of Finance Paid (1,891) (1,988)

Net Cash provided by Operating Activities 19(c) 10,348 8,980

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Payments for Buildings and Infrastructure (2,446) (3,853)

Payments for Plant and Equipment (3,354) (5,725)

Payments for Construction Work in Progress (585) (1,086)

Payments for Intangible Assets (180) –

Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment – 9

Distribution from Equity Accounted Investments 750 1,700

Payments for Investments (296) (250)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (6,111) (9,205)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Repayment of Borrowings (3,000) (1,500)

Net Cash Used by Financing Activities (3,000) (1,500)

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,237 (1,725)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Financial Year 3,361 5,086

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Financial Year 19(a) 4,598 3,361

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 43 to 59.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

1. General information
The Victoria Racing Club Limited’s principal place of business  
and registered office is 448 Epsom Road, Flemington 3031,  
tel (03) 8378 0888.

Victoria Racing Club Limited (‘the Club’) is a public company limited  
by guarantee, incorporated and operating in Australia. If the Club  
is wound up, the Constitution states that each current member, and 
each person who ceased membership within the preceding 12 months, 
is required to contribute a maximum of $10 towards meeting any 
outstanding obligations of the Club. At 31 July 2009, the number  
of members was 29,002 (2008: 28,489).

2. Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
In the current year, the Club has adopted all of the new and revised 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (the AASB) that are relevant to its operations and 
effective for the current annual reporting period. The adoption  
of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations has  
not resulted in changes to the Club’s accounting policies for  
the current or prior years.

The Club has also adopted the following Standards as listed below 
which only impacted on the Club’s financial statements with respect 
to disclosure:
•  AASB 8 ‘Operating Segments’. AASB 8 is applicable to annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Club 
has adopted the Standard early. Application of this Standard has 
resulted in the segment information not being required to be 
disclosed for the Club.

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following 
relevant Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not  
yet effective.

Initial application of the following Standard will not affect any  
of the amounts recognised in the financial report, but will change  
the disclosures presently made in relation to the Club and the  
Club’s financial report:
•  AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (revised September 

2007), AASB 2007–8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 101’. Effective for annual reporting 
periods on or after 1 January 2009. Expected to be initially applied  
in the financial year ending 31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2009–2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments’. Effective for 
annual reporting periods on or after 1 January 2009 (and that ends 
on or after 30 April 2009). Expected to be initially applied in the 
financial year ending 31 July 2010. 

Initial application of the following Standards and Interpretations  
is not expected to have any material impact on the financial report  
of the Club:
•  AASB 123 ‘Borrowing Costs’ (revised), AASB 2007–6 ‘Amendments  

to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 123’. Effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. 
Expected to be initially applied in the financial year ending  
31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2008–5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvements Project’. Effective for annual 
reporting periods on or after 1 January 2009. Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial year ending 31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2008–6 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project’. Effective 
for annual reporting periods on or after 1 January 2009. Expected  
to be initially applied in the financial year ending 31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2008–7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Cost of an investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity  
or a Associate’. Effective for annual reporting periods on or after  
1 January 2009. Expected to be initially applied in the financial  
year ending 31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2008–8 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Eligible Hedged Items’. Effective for annual reporting periods  
on or after 1 January 2009. Expected to be initially applied  
in the financial year ending 31 July 2010.

•  AASB Interpretation 17 ‘Distributions of Non Cash Assets to owners’, 
‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Interpretation 17 – Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners’. 
Effective for annual reporting periods on or after 1 January 2009. 
Expected to be initially applied in the financial year ending  
31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2009–4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Annual Improvement Process’. Effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009. Expected to be 
initially applied in the financial year ending 31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2009–5 ‘Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvement Process’. Effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010. 
Expected to be initially applied in the financial year ending  
31 July 2011.

•  AASB 2009–6 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’. 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2009. Expected to be initially applied in the financial 
year ending 31 July 2010.

•  AASB 2009–7 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’. 
Effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after  
1 July 2009. Expected to be initially applied in the financial year 
ending 31 July 2010.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and 
Interpretations in future periods will have no material financial 
impact on the financial statements of the Club.

3. Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance
The financial report is a general purpose financial report that has 
been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other 
requirements of the law. Accounting Standards include Australian 
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’). 
Compliance with the A-IFRS ensures that the Financial Statements 
and notes of the Club comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’).

The Financial Statements were authorised for issue by the Directors 
on 23 October 2009.

Basis of preparation
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, 
except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial 
instruments. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration 
given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian 
dollars, unless otherwise noted.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

3. Significant accounting policies continued
The Club is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 
98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest 
thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted  
in the preparation and presentation of the Financial Report.

(a) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents 
are short-term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three months or less at 
the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings 
in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

(b) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead 
expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most 
appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with all categories 
being valued on a first in first out basis. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs  
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

(c) Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
The investments in ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd and 3UZ Sport 927 held by 
the Club are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair 
value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 23(f). 
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised 
directly in the investments revaluation reserve with the exception  
of impairment losses, which are recognised directly in profit or loss. 
Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the investments 
revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss for the period.

The Club has adopted a formal policy of providing an independent 
valuation for available for sale assets at least every two years.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market  
are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value, net of 
transaction costs. Loans and receivables are subsequently measured  
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment.

Investments in associates
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment in associates  
are accounted for under the equity method in the Club Financial 
Statements. The investments in the Australian Prices Network and 
Thoroughbred Racing Production (Vic) Pty Ltd are accounted for 
under the equity method.

Jointly controlled entities
Interests in jointly controlled entities in which the Club is a venturer 
(and so has joint control) are accounted for under the equity method. 
The investments in the Australian Stud Book and the Australian 
Genetics Testing Pty Ltd are accounted for under the equity method.

(d) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including trade and other payables and 
borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. Trade and other payables are recognised when the Club 
becomes obliged to make payments resulting from the purchase  
of goods and services.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the  
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate,  
a shorter period.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land is measured at fair value. Fair value is determined on 
the basis of an annual independent valuation prepared by external 
valuation experts based on an analysis of the size and position of the 
land, and of sales of land within close proximity over the last number 
of years. Fair values are recognised in the financial statements and 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the 
carrying values of freehold land are not materially different from 
their fair values.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land is  
credited to a revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses  
a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised as  
an expense in profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited  
to the income statement to the extent of the decrease previously 
charged. A decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation  
of land is charged as an expense in profit or loss to the extent that  
it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the revaluation reserve relating 
to a previous revaluation of that asset.

Plant and equipment and buildings are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. Cost includes expenditure that is 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that 
settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred,  
cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future 
to their present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment, including buildings 
and infrastructure, but excluding construction work in progress, and 
is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost of 
each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method 
are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation  
of depreciation.
• Buildings and Infrastructure – 25 to 40 years
• Plant and Equipment and Furniture and Fittings – 3 to 10 years

(f) Leased assets
Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.
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3. Significant accounting policies continued
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their  
fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value of  
the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception  
of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included  
in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and 
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
charged directly against income, unless they are directly attributable 
to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance 
with the Club’s general policy on borrowing costs. Refer to Note 3(h). 
Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight 
line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis 
is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed.

(g) Impairment of other tangible assets
At each reporting date, the Club reviews the carrying amounts of  
its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that 
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, 
the Club estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is 
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of 
the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless 
the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment 
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount 
of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate 
of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated  
as a revaluation increase.

(h) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily 
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets 
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings 
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from  
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they are incurred.

(i) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Club has a present obligation 
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
the Club will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the 
consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting 
date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding  
the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows 
estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount  
is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle  
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,  
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable  
can be measured reliably.

(j) Employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect 
of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave when  
it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable  
of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be 
settled within 12 months are measured at their nominal values using 
the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits that are not 
expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the present 
value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Club 
in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.

Defined benefit plans
For defined benefit superannuation plans, the cost of providing 
benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method,  
with actuarial valuations being carried out at each reporting date. 
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full directly in retained 
earnings in the period in which they occur, and are presented in  
the statement of recognised income and expense.

Past service cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the 
benefits are already vested, and otherwise is amortised on a straight 
line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.

The defined benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet 
represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation, 
adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, net of the fair value  
of the plan assets.

(k) Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received  
or receivable for sale of goods and services.

Sale of goods and services
Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognised when  
all of the following conditions are satisfied:
•  The Club has transferred to the buyer the significant risks  

and rewards of ownership of the goods or service;
•  The Club retains neither continuing managerial involvement  

to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective 
control over the goods sold or service provided;

•  The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
•  It is probable that the economic benefits associated with  

the transaction will flow to the entity; and
•  The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction 

can be measured reliably.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

3. Significant accounting policies continued
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, 
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash  
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that  
asset’s net carrying amount.

(l) Thoroughbred Racing Industry distributions
The Club received distributions of $27.07 million (2008: $26.767 million) 
and these represent the amount received and receivable in respect  
to the year ended 31 July 2009, net of industry adjustments. Included 
in this total is the amount of $2.066 million (2008: $2.066 million) 
representing contributions made to the Club by Racing Victoria 
Limited to fund, in part or wholly, capital developments at 
Flemington Racecourse.

(m) Goods and Services Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount  
of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except:
(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

(ii)  for receivables and payables that are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to the taxation 
authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross  
basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing  
and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to,  
the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

(n) Derivative financial instruments
The Club has entered into an interest rate swap to manage its 
exposure to interest rate risk. Further details of the derivative financial 
instrument are disclosed in Note 23 to the financial statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair 
value at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised  
in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated  
and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event, the timing  
of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the  
hedge relationship.

The Club designated the interest rate swap as a hedge of highly 
probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedge).

The fair value of a hedging derivative is presented as a non-current 
asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the 
instrument is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be 
realised or settled within 12 months.

Hedge accounting
The Club designated the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge.

At the inception of the hedge relationship the Club documented  
the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged  
item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for 
undertaking the hedge transaction. Furthermore, at the inception of 
the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Club documents whether the 
hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly 
effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Note 23 contains details of the fair value of the derivative instrument 
used for hedging purposes. Movements in the hedging reserve  
in equity are also detailed in Note 6.

Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of change in the fair value of the derivative  
that is designated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge is deferred  
in equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss as part of other expenses  
or other income.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the 
periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss in the 
same line of the income statement as the recognised hedged item. 
However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in  
the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability,  
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred 
from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost  
of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Club revokes the  
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. 
Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains  
in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately 
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer 
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred  
in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(o) Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are recorded at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment. Amortisation is charged 
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated 
useful life and amortisation method is reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period, with any changes in these accounting 
estimates being accounted for on a prospective basis.

(p) Comparative amounts
Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative amounts  
have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for  
the current financial year.

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources  
of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Club’s accounting policies, which  
are described in Note 3, management is required to make  
judgements, estimates and assumptions about carrying values  
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based  
on historical experience and other factors that are considered  
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on  
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised  
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods  
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

As described in Note 23(f), management uses their judgement in 
selecting the most appropriate valuation technique in deriving fair 
value. For available for sale assets as noted in Note 10 a combination 
of commonly used valuation techniques are applied.
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5. Retained earnings
2009
$000

2008
$000

Balance at 1 August 97,744 101,460

Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit plan (495) (1,499)

Net profit/(loss) 1,985 (2,217)

Balance at 31 July 99,234 97,744

6. Reserves
2009
$000

2008
$000

Investment revaluation 6,069 6,069

Asset revaluation 52,086 55,178

Hedging reserve (812) (320)

57,343 60,927

Investment revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 August 6,069 6,069

Valuation gain recognised – –

Balance at 31 July 6,069 6,069

The investment revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of available for sale financial assets.  
Where a revalued financial asset is sold, that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset,  
and is effectively realised, is recognised in profit or loss. Where a revalued financial asset is impaired,  
that portion of the reserve which relates to that financial asset is recognised in profit or loss.

Asset revaluation reserve
Balance at 1 August 55,178 35,793

Revaluation (decrements)/increments (3,092) 19,385

Transferred to retained earnings – –

Balance at 31 July 52,086 55,178

The asset revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land. Where revalued land is sold,  
that portion of the asset revaluation reserve which relates to that asset, and is effectively realised,  
is transferred directly to retained earnings.

Hedging reserve
Balance at 1 August – interest rate swap (320) –

Loss recognised on cash flow hedges (543) (349)

Transferred to profit or loss – Interest expense 51 29

Balance at 31 July (812) (320)

The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion  
of the cash flow hedge (interest rate swap). The cumulative deferred gain or loss on the hedge  
is recognised in profit or loss when the hedged transaction impacts the profit or loss.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

7. Income tax
The Club is exempt from income tax under section 50–45SS9.1(a) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (as amended).

8. Finance costs
2009
$000

2008
$000

Interest on commercial bills 2,055 2,086

Interest on obligations under finance lease 12 12

Less amounts included in the cost of qualifying assets (76) (285)

1,991 1,813

Fair value loss on interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedge transferred from equity 51 29

Total 2,042 1,842

9. Trade and other receivables at amortised cost
2009
$000

2008
$000

Wagering distribution 362 723

TVN rights fees 2,296 2,296

TVN loan (i) 500 500

Racemeeting receipts – 184

Tabaret receivables 77 136

Trade receivables (ii) 3,896 4,446

Other receivables 888 1,537

8,019 9,822

(i) The loan receivable from TVN is at call on agreement of all shareholders.
(ii) The average credit period on sales of goods and services is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade receivables.

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade and other receivables
Included in trade and other receivables that are not impaired are the following amounts which are past due by:

2009
$000

2008
$000

30 – 60 days 559 697

60 days+ 1,438 1,984

Total 1,997 2,681

Included in the Club’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $2.0 million (2008: $2.7 million) which are considered  
past due in line with normal credit terms. The Club has not provided for any of these outstanding debts as they predominantly relate  
to services not yet performed in relation to the 2009 Melbourne Cup Carnival, and as such are considered fully recoverable.
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10. Other financial assets
2009
$000

2008
$000

Available for sale investments at fair value:
Non-current
ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd (i) 5,625 5,625

3UZ Sport 927 (ii) 2,846 2,846

8,471 8,471

Investments carried at amortised cost:
Non-current
Bank term deposits 55 55

8,526 8,526

(i)  ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd 
At 31 July 2009, the Club held a 12.5% (2008: 12.5%) shareholding in ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd (TVN).  
An independent valuation was obtained to provide a valuation of fair value at 31 July 2008. A Directors’ valuation was undertaken  
to provide a valuation of fair value of TVN at 31 July 2009. Based on all relevant and known financial information and with the  
utilisation of a discounted cash flow earnings model, the Club has valued its 12.5% shareholding at $5.625 million (2008: $5.625 million).

(ii)  3UZ Sport 927 
At 31 July 2009, the Club held a 14.23% (2008: 14.23%) shareholding in 3UZ Sport 927. 
An independent valuation was obtained to provide a valuation of fair value at 31 July 2008. A Directors’ valuation was undertaken  
to provide a valuation of fair value of 3UZ Sport 927 at 31 July 2009. Based on a combination of factors, which included sales of similar  
businesses, market values of assets and licences held and analysis of direct and indirect benefits accruing to the Racing Industry  
as a result of ownership of the radio station, the Club has valued its 14.23% shareholding at $2.846 million (2008: $2.846 million).

11. Other intangible assets
Total
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 August 2008 –

Additions 180

Impairment –

Disposals –

Balance at 31 July 2009 180

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 August 2008 –

Amortisation expense 19

Impairment –

Disposals –

Balance at 31 July 2009 19

Net book value
As at 31 July 2008 –

As at 31 July 2009 161

During the year, the Club acquired the right, for a period of five years, to utilise additional annual quantities of potable water.
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

12. Investments accounted for using the equity method
2009
$000

2008
$000

Investments in associates 53 28
Investments in jointly controlled entities 2 2

55 30

Ownership interest

Name of entity Principal activity
Country of 
incorporation

2009 
%

2008 
%

Australian Prices Network Distribution of betting price fluctuations Australia 16.7 16.7
Thoroughbred Racing  
Production (Vic) Pty Ltd Production of on course racing vision Australia 25.0 25.0

Jointly controlled entity
Australian Stud Book Maintenance of breeding register Australia 50.0 50.0
Australian Genetics Testing Pty Ltd DNA screening of research animals Australia 50.0 –

The Club acquired a 50% shareholding in the new company Australian Genetics Testing Pty Ltd in July 2009.  
The company will commence trading as at 1 August 2009.

2009
$000

2008
$000

Summarised financial information of associates
Financial position
Total assets 11,562 290
Total liabilities 11,458 118
Net assets 104 172
Share of net assets (1) 28

Financial performance
Total revenue 8,362 1,659
Total profit for the year 679 641
Share of profit before income tax 107 107
Share of income tax expense – –
Share of associates’ profit (1) 107 107

(1) Included in share of associates’ profit is a share of the net loss of Thoroughbred Racing Production (Vic) Pty Ltd.

Summarised financial information of jointly controlled entities
Financial position
Current assets 922 666
Non-current assets 598 687
Current liabilities 1,515 1,337
Non-current liabilities 1 12
Net assets 4 4
Share of net assets 2 2

Financial performance
Income 5,417 4,900
Expenses 4,163 3,423
Net profit 1,254 1,477
Share of jointly controlled entities profit or loss before tax 627 738
Share of jointly controlled entities income tax expense – –
Share of jointly controlled entities profit 627 738



Victoria Racing Club 
Annual Report 2009

51 

13. Property, plant and equipment

Freehold land 
at fair value  

$000

Construction 
W.I.P. at cost 

$000

Buildings and 
infrastructure 

at cost 
$000

Plant and 
equipment 

at cost 
$000

Assets under 
finance lease 

at cost 
$000

Total 
$000

Gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 August 2007 42,233 28,627 100,619 96,681 – 268,160

Additions – 1,247 16,453 19,013 197 36,910

Transfers – (28,417)  – – – (28,417)

Net revaluation increments 19,385 – – – – 19,385

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – (103) – (103)

Balance at 1 August 2008 61,618 1,457 117,072 115,591 197 295,935

Additions – 585 2,446 4,833 – 7,864

Transfers – (1,450) – – – (1,450)

Net revaluation (decrements) (3,092) – – – – (3,092)

Disposals – – – – – –

Balance at 31 July 2009 58,526 592 119,518 120,424 197 299,257

Accumulated depreciation  
and impairment
Balance at 1 August 2007 – – 43,438 45,804 – 89,242

Depreciation expense – – 4,779 5,342 36 10,157

Impairment – – – – – –

Disposals – – – (103) – (103)

Balance at 1 August 2008 – – 48,217 51,043 36 99,296

Depreciation expense – – 4,828 5,328 42 10,198

Disposals – – – – – –

Balance at 31 July 2009 – – 53,045 56,371 78 109,494

Net book value
As at 31 July 2008 61,618 1,457 68,855 64,548 161 196,639 

As at 31 July 2009 58,526 592 66,473 64,053 119 189,763

Freehold land carried at fair value.
An independent valuation of the Club’s freehold land was performed by Rushton valuers to determine the fair value of the land. The valuation, 
which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to similar sales of real estate in the local and surrounding 
areas and with regard to the size, shape and topography of the individual parcels of land. The effective date of the valuation is 31 July 2009 
(2008: 31 July 2008).

Had the Club’s land been measured on a historical cost basis, the carrying amount would have been as follows:
2009
$000

2008
$000

Freehold land 890 890
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

14. Trade and other payables at amortised cost
2009 
$000

2008 
$000

Current
Race meeting payables 89 387

Payables for assets 86 57

Trade payables (i) 3,149 3,140

Racing Victoria (ii) 250 250

Other payables 2,722 2,549

6,296 6,383

Non-current
Racing Victoria (ii) – 250

(i) The average credit period on purchases is 30 days. No interest is charged on trade payables.
(ii) The payable to Racing Victoria Limited is payable at $0.25 million per annum is interest bearing and will be fully repaid by 31 July 2010.

15. Borrowings
2009 
$000

2008 
$000

Unsecured – at amortised cost
Current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 41 38

Commercial bills (ii) – 26,500

Subtotal 41 26,538

Non-current
Finance lease liabilities (i) 86 127

Commercial bills (ii) 23,500 –

Subtotal 23,586 127

Total 23,627 26,665

(i) Secured by assets leased.
(ii)  The Club’s commercial bill facility is for a three year term and expires in August 2011. The prior year debt was shown on the Balance Sheet  

as a current liability as required by AASB101 due to a gearing covenant not being met at 31 July 2008.

16. Provisions
2009
$000

2008
$000

Current
Employee benefits 2,937 2,967

Non-current
Employee benefits 3,601 3,979

6,538 6,946

The current provision for employee benefits includes $2.2 million of annual leave and vested long service leave entitlements accrued but not 
expected to be taken within 12 months (2008: $2.13 million). The employee benefits expense for the year was $0.18 million (2008: $0.47 million). 
The expense has been included in the Income Statement in expenditure for Administration and Racecourse Maintenance.
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17. Leases
Finance leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the purchase of motor vehicles and equipment with lease terms of up to four years remaining.  
At the conclusion of the term and final payment, full ownership is transferred to the Club.

Minimum future
lease payments

Present value of
minimum future

lease payments

Finance lease liabilities
2009
$000

2008
$000

2009
$000

2008
$000

– not later than 1 year 50 50 47 47

– later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 94 144 80 118

Minimum lease payments 144 194 127 165

Less future finance charges 17 29 – –

Present value of minimum lease payments 127 165 127 165

Included in the Financial Statements as: (Note 15)
– Current borrowings 41 38

– Non-current borrowings 86 127

127 165

Minimum future lease payments includes the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual.

Operating leases
Leasing arrangements relate to the rental of motor vehicles with lease terms of between 3 to 5 years.  
On conclusion of the term, there are no options to extend or purchase.

2009
$000

2008
$000

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Not longer than 1 year 164 291

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 124 252

288 543

18. Defined benefit superannuation fund
A significant number of employees of the Club are members of the Victorian Racing Industry Superannuation Fund (the sub-plan)  
of AMP Signature Super. The sub-plan has a combination of defined benefit and accumulation membership. The following  
information relates to the defined benefit membership. The defined benefit segment of the sub-plan is closed to new members.

The defined benefit members are entitled to retirement benefits based on a multiple of their deemed final salary upon attainment  
of a retirement age of 60. No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.

The defined benefit superannuation segment is a funded segment of the sub-plan. The net deficit determined in the sub-plan’s  
most recent financial report, for the year ended 31 July 2009, was $3.185 million (2008: $3.338 million).

The Club has a legal liability to make up a deficit in the defined benefit segment of the sub-plan, but no direct legal right to withdraw  
any surplus from the sub-plan.

The Club expects to make a contribution of $1.566 million (2009: $0.829 million) to the defined benefit segment of the sub-plan  
during the next financial year.

2009
%

2008
%

Key assumptions used for the purpose of the actuarial valuation were as follows  
(expressed as weighted averages):
Discount rate gross of tax 5.6 6.2

Discount rate net of tax 4.8 5.3

Expected return on plan assets 7.0 7.0

Expected rate of salary increase 4.5 4.5
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Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements  
of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

18. Defined benefit superannuation fund continued
Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the defined benefit plan are as follows:

2009
$000

2008
$000

Current service cost 571 1,253
Interest cost 686 679
Expected return on plan assets (774) (845)
Expense recognised in income statement 483 1,087
Actuarial (gains)/losses incurred during the year and recognised in the  
statement of recognised income and expense 495 1,499
Cumulative actuarial gains recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense 79 (416)

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Club’s obligations in respect 
of its defined benefit sub-plan is as follows:
Present value of defined benefit obligation at end of year 13,157 14,028
Fair value of plan assets at end of year (9,972) (10,690)
Net liability arising from defined benefit 3,185 3,338

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations in the current period  
were as follows:
Defined benefit obligation at start of year 14,028 14,057
Current service cost 571 1,253
Interest cost 686 679
Member contributions 204 175
Actuarial gains (1,727) (301)
Benefits paid (605) (1,835)
Defined benefit obligation at end of year 13,157 14,028

Movements in the present value of the plan assets in the current period were as follows:
Opening fair value of plan assets 10,690 12,494
Expected return on plan assets 774 845
Actuarial gains/(losses) (2,222) (1,801)
Employer contributions 1,131 812
Member contributions 204 175
Benefits paid (605) (1,835)
Closing fair value of plan assets 9,972 10,690

The analysis of the plan assets and the expected rate of return at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Expected return Fair value of plan assets
2009

%
2008

%
2009
$000

2008
$000

Equity instruments 7.75 7.75 5,834 6,200
Debt instruments 5.5 5.5 2,493 2,779
Property 7.0 7.0 798 1,069
Other 7.0 7.0 847 642
Weighted average expected return 7.0 7.0 9,972 10,690
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18. Defined benefit superannuation fund continued
The actual return on plan assets was ($1.448) million (2008: ($0.956) million).

The expected return on plan assets assumptions is determined by weighting the expected long-term return for each asset class  
by the target allocation to each class. The returns used for each class are net of investment tax and fees.

The history of experience is included in the table below.
2009
$000

2008
$000

Fair value of plan assets 9,972 10,690

Present value of defined benefit obligation 13,157 14,028

Surplus/(deficit) (3,185) (3,338)

Experience adjustments – plan liabilities 426 85

Experience adjustments – plan assets (2,222) (1,801)

19. Notes to the cash flow statement
2009
$000

2008
$000

(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at amortised cost 4,598  3,361

(b) Financing facilities
Unsecured commercial bill facility
Amount used 23,500 26,500

Amount unused 11,500 13,500

35,000 40,000

Unsecured bank overdraft facility
Amount used – –

Amount unused 2,000 5,000

2,000 5,000

Unsecured leasing facility
Amount used 197 197

Amount unused 1,103 1,303

1,300 1,500

(c) Reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) for the year 1,985 (2,217)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 10,217 10,157

Impairment of non-current assets – –

Share of profits in associated entities not received as dividends or distributions (752) (845)

Loss/(gain) on disposal of fixed assets – (9)

Non-cash fair value loss on interest rate swap 51 29

Non-cash movements in defined benefit superannuation expense (648) 275

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease in trade and other receivables 2,041 1,900

Decrease/(increase) in inventories 773 (898)

(Decrease) in trade and other payables (507) (451)

(Decrease)/Increase in fees in advance (2,993) 566

Increase in employee benefit provisions 181 473

10,348 8,980
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of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

20. Auditors’ remuneration
2009

$
2008

$

Auditors of Victoria Racing Club Limited
– Audit of the financial report 110,575 114,875
– Other services 13,000 10,400

Other services in the 2009 year primarily consist of accounting assistance in relation to the Victorian Racing Industry Superannuation Fund.

21. Key management personnel compensation
The key management personnel of the Club include the Chief Executive Officer and the nine direct reports, and members of the Board.  
The compensation of the key management personnel is set out below and includes the Chief Executive Officer and the direct reports.  
Directors of the Board are not remunerated by the Club; however, do receive certain reimbursements and travel allowances for cost  
incurred while fulfilling their role as a Director.

2009
$

2008
$

Short-term employee benefits 2,079,396 2,105,841

Post-employment benefits 187,346 347,753

Other long-term employee benefits 568,159 538,039

2,834,901 2,991,633

22. Capital commitments
The Club has capital commitments for capital expenditure on 
qualifying assets at 31 July 2009 of $0.59 million (2008: $1.250 million). 
The capital commitments are to be paid within 12 months.

23. Financial instruments
(a) Capital risk management
The Club manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue 
as a going concern.

The capital structure of the Club consists of cash and cash equivalents 
and equity comprising retained earnings and reserves, as disclosed  
in Notes 5 and 6 respectively.

In addition, from time to time the Club uses borrowings, as disclosed  
in Note 15 to fund capital expenditure and to cover cash flow 
requirements due to mismatches in the timing of receipt of  
income and payment of expenses.

The Club is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
The Club’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2008.

(b) Financial risk management objectives
The Club’s finance function provides services to the business and 
monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations  
of the Club. These risks include market risk (interest rate risk),  
credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Club has sought to minimise the effect of interest rate risk,  
by using a derivative financial instrument. The use of financial 
derivatives is governed by the Club’s policies approved by the Board  
of Directors, which provide written principles on interest rate risk, 
credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial 
instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity.

The Club does not enter into or trade financial instruments,  
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 
Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed on a 
continual basis by the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

(c) Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, 
including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and 
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of 
each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 
are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial report.

(d) Interest rate risk management
The Club is mainly exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows  
funds at variable interest rates. The risk is managed by the Club  
by minimising borrowings, managing cash flows and by entering  
into an interest rate swap to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates. 
Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate 
views and the Club’s risk appetite.
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23. Financial instruments continued
Interest rate swap contract
Under the interest rate swap contract, the Club agreed to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated 
on an agreed notional principal amount. The contract enables the Club to mitigate the risk of cash flow exposures on the issued variable rate 
borrowings. The fair value of the interest rate swap at the reporting date is determined by discounting the future cash flows using the future 
yield curve at reporting date and the credit risk inherent in the contract.

The following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of the interest rate swap contract outstanding as at  
reporting date:

Average contracted  
fixed interest rate

Notional  
principal amount Fair value

2009 
%

2008 
%

2009
$000

2008 
$000

2009
$000

2008 
$000

Outstanding pay floating  
for fixed contract 7.96 7.96 19,000 23,000 (892) (349)

The interest rate swap settles on a monthly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swap is the Bank Bill Swap reference rate.  
The Club will settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis.

The interest rate swap contract is designated as a cash flow hedge in order to reduce the Club’s cash flow exposure from variable rate 
borrowings. The hedged cash flows are expected to occur from 1 August 2008 to 30 August 2011. The periods when the hedged cash flows  
are expected to impact profit or loss are not known at this stage as the cash flows will either be expensed in profit or loss as interest expense  
or will be capitalised if they relate to a qualifying asset in line with the Club’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

Interest rate risk exposure
The following table details the Club’s exposure to interest rate risk through its interest earning financial assets and interest bearing  
financial liabilities as at 31 July.

2009 2008

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

%

Variable 
interest rate

$000

Fixed 
interest rate

$000

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

%

Variable 
interest rate

$000

Fixed  
interest rate

$000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.37 4,598 – 5.25 3,361 –

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 4.91 250 – 8.0 500 –

Commercial bills 5.29 23,500 – 7.70 26,500 –

Interest rate swap 7.96 (19,000) 19,000 7.96 (23,000) 23,000
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of the Victoria Racing Club Limited
for the financial year ended 31 July 2009

23. Financial instruments continued
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the 
exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative 
instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking 
place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant 
throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point increase or  
decrease represents management’s assessment of the possible 
change in interest rates.

At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or 
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Club’s net profit 
would decrease by $100,665 or increase by $100,665 (2008: decrease  
by $117,920 or increase by $117,920). This is mainly attributable to  
the Club’s exposure to interest rates on its commercial bills.

The sensitivity on net profit disclosed above is not representative of 
the Club’s exposure during the year due to the fluctuation in the level 
of commercial bills throughout the year based on the Club’s monthly 
cash flow requirements.

(e) Other price risk management
The Club is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investments 
in ThoroughVisioN Pty Ltd and 3UZ Sport 927, which are accounted  
for as available for sale investments.

While the Club is exposed to the fair value of these investments,  
it does not expect the fair value to move significantly from period  
to period unless there is a significant change in the investees’ 
underlying business.

(f) Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are 
determined as follows:
•  the fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms 

and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined 
with reference to quoted market prices; and

•  the fair value of other financial assets and liabilities are determined 
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on 
discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets 
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial 
statements approximate their fair values.

(g) Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests  
with the Board of Directors, who have built an appropriate  
liquidity risk management framework for the management of  
the Club’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity 
management requirements.

The Club manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves 
and banking facilities and by continuously monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities.

The following tables detail the Club’s remaining contractual maturity 
for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based  
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the 
earliest date on which the Club can be required to pay. The tables 
includes both interest and principal cash flows.

2009
1–3 

months 
$000

3 months  
– 1 year  

$000

1–5 
years 
$000

Total 
$000

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 6,046 262 – 6,308

Commercial bills – – 25,986 25,986

Derivative financial liability – 892 – 892

Finance lease liability – 51 100 151

6,046 1,205 26,086 33,337

2008
1–3 

months 
$000

3 months  
– 1 year 

$000

1–5 
years 
$000

Total 
$000

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 6,133 272 294 6,699

Commercial bills 26,670 – – 26,670

Derivative financial liability – 349 – 349

Finance lease liability – 51 147 198

32,803 672 441 33,916
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23. Financial instruments continued

(h) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Club. The Club 
has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties.

Membership applicants are scrutinised, including credit checks.  
The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments  
is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit 
ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial 
statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Club’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the  
value of any collateral obtained, with the exception of those 
guarantees listed under Note 24. 

The Club does not have any significant credit risk exposure to  
any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having  
similar characteristics.

24. Contingent liabilities
The Club has guaranteed the obligations of Racing Victoria Limited, 
Werribee Racing Club and Thoroughbred Racing Productions (Vic)  
Pty Ltd in respect of loans provided by Australia and New Zealand 
Banking Group to those parties for the amounts not exceeding  
$0.25 million (2008: $0.5 million), $3.0 million (2008: $3.0 million)  
and $2.18 million (2008: nil) respectively.

The guarantee in respect of the obligations of Thoroughbred Racing 
Productions (Vic) Pty Ltd expired in October 2009 and was replaced 
with a letter of undertaking for $2.79 million.

25. Related parties
The following parties are considered to be related parties to the Club:

Members of the Board who held office in the year ended 31 July 2009 
(as detailed on pages 6 to 7 of this Report).

All Members of the Board act in an honorary capacity and receive  
no remuneration for their services; however, do receive certain 
reimbursements and compensation for cost incurred while fulfilling 
their role as a Director. Certain Members of the Board participate  
in the Thoroughbred Racing Industry via means of ownership  
of racehorses either individually or through related entities.  
This involvement is on terms and conditions no more favourable  
than other participants in the Thoroughbred Racing Industry.

Key management personnel includes the Chief Executive Officer  
and the nine direct reports and members of the Board. During  
the year a total of $2.08 million (2008: $2.10 million) was paid or 
reimbursed to these key management personnel for the services 
provided to the Club.

The Club paid Directors and Officers’ Liability Insurance on behalf  
of the Board and Officers of the Club.

The Club indemnifies each officer of the Club against any liability  
that may be instituted against them or any of them in the exercise  
of their office or performance of their duties.

The Club has not otherwise, during or since the financial year 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the  
Club or any related organisation against liability incurred as such  
an officer or auditor.

All other material transactions and balances with related parties  
have been disclosed in this Report.

26. Subsequent events
There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent 
to the end of the financial year that has significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Club, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Club in future financial years.

Directors’ declaration
The Directors declare that:
(a)  In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to  

believe that the Club will be able to pay its debts as and when  
they become due and payable.

(b)  In the Directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and 
notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including compliance with Accounting Standards and giving  
a true and fair view of the financial position and performance  
of the Club.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made 
pursuant to Section 295 (5) of the Corporations Act 2001.

On behalf of the Directors

P J Fekete Director

D G Monteith Chief Executive
Melbourne, 23rd October 2009
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Statistical Summary

2008/09 2007/08 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05

Racing
Race Meetings 24 25 30 32 32

Saturdays and Public Holidays 22 20 19 19 19

Sundays 0 0 1 2 2

Mid-Weeks 2 5 10 11 11

Races 202 208 244 266 274

Starters 2,333 2,414 2,629 2,981 3,078

Average Starters per Race 11.5 11.6 10.8 11.2 11.2

Attendances
Annual 572,054 566,379 539,058 563,862 551,266

Melbourne Cup Day 107,280 102,411 106,691 106,479 98,161

Melbourne Cup Carnival 396,046 397,413 418,069 383,784 370,114

Membership
Members – All Categories 29,002 28,489 27,541 26,170 24,136

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Prizemoney 35,882 35,031 34,896 34,633 33,495

Betting Turnover
On Course Totalizator 61,304 59,085 58,142 58,320 59,520

Bookmakers 174,025 138,989 148,724 168,474 169,391

Off Course Totalizator 469,555 397,600 421,845 420,954 410,974

Total Turnover 704,884 595,674 628,711 647,748 639,885

Financial Information
Net Surplus/(Loss) 1,985 (2,217) 2,652 909 2,186

Wagering Distribution 27,070 26,767 28,977 25,538 26,959

New Buildings and Property, Plant and Equipment 8,073 37,289 52,739 38,448 20,183

Performance
Total Revenue (excl. Wagering Distribution) 112,808 104,811 87,549 83,881 78,341

Average Entrance Revenue $31.90 $27.26 $20.86 $17.50 $15.84

Sponsorship as to Prizemoney 27.01% 26.95% 23.39% 21.60% 19.70%

Returns to Owners as to Distribution 132.63% 130.87% 120.40% 135.60% 124.20%

Note: The above five-year statistical summary relates to the Racing Seasons 1 August to 31 July.



During the course of the year, the following were lost  
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Our vision is to maintain Flemington  
as a world leader in thoroughbred racing, 
event management and entertainment.
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Mission
Through our people we will:
•  Continually develop Flemington  

as a world class racing and 
entertainment venue all  
year round

•  Focus on the continued growth  
and success of the Melbourne  
Cup Carnival

•  Provide the highest quality  
service, facilities and value for  
our Members, customers, partners  
and the community

•  Balance our commitment to 
environmental sustainability  
and the local community with  
our operations

•  Maximise financial returns from  
our racing and events for the benefit  
of the Club, its Members, the racing 
industry and partners.

Values
Integrity: Acting with integrity  
in all that we do

Innovation: Encouraging and 
embracing innovation to achieve 
continuous improvement

Excellence: Setting the highest 
standards in service and value  
for our Members, customers  
and business partners

Collaboration: Valuing and respecting 
the commitment and contribution  
of all of our people and expecting 
collaboration across our teams

Safety and Sustainability: Providing  
a safe and environmentally friendly 
workplace, and venue for our people, 
customers and industry participants

12-time Melbourne Cup winner, Bart Cummings
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